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W hether your operation is multi - national, conglomerate or greatly diversified, our CGL Corporate General Ledger can help you change problems into solutions with less time, money and effort than ever before.
Imagine, consolidated statements automatically
generated for the m ost dem anding regulatory
bodies and governments. Even up -to- the - minute
monetary conversions to a base currency are
taken into account, simplifying all functional areas
of your operation.

Compared to the experience and expense necessary to design a complex corporate ledger from
the basics, CGL can m ake you responsive to
change tom orrow with all the econom ies afforded by packaged software today. For more information, simply write or call for all the details.

ams

Compatible with IBM mainframe environm ents,
CGL is based on hundreds of man -years in ex-

perience developing custom financial systems for
government and some of the world's largest corporations. W ith offices convenient ly locat ed
throughout the country, AMS can help you fine tune CGL to your specific needs with a minimum
time needed for implementation.

AM E RI CAN M AN AG E M E NT S Y S T E M S , I N C.
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IS YOUR CASH FLOW
IN GOOD HEALTH?
Companies, like people, sometimes get bruised in their budget. It
takes professional help to cure people... and it takes professional help
to cure companies, too. �
National Acceptance has been healing
corporate financial problems for over 50 years. So next time you need
help, call us. Our prescription will make you feel better in no time.

Established in 1922

National Acceptance
Company of America

•

Bankers Bldg., 105 W est Adams St., Chicago, Illinois 60603
REGIONAL OFFICES:
Chicago / Atlanta / Baltimore
Charlotte / Dallas / Denver
El Paso / Houston
Los Angeles

St. Louis / San Antonio
San Jose / Santa Ana
Southfield (Detroit)
Tampa / Westlake (Cleveland)
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Small Business: a Question of Survival

14

By Morris Gartenberg
If even Chrysler Corporation is staggered by a combination of inflation, regulatory costs
and taxes, how can a small business hope to survive? Herewith, an introductory overview
of the state of small business —this month's theme —and a prognosis: hopeful.

Small
Business

How to Finance a Small Business

16

By William Wucinich
Insufficient financing is one of the major causes of small business failure. This controller
offers some guidelines in choosing a lender and determining how much an entrepreneur
really needs for a successful, long -term enterprise.

Planning a New Cost System: the `Unfreezing' Stage

19

By H. Andrew Connolly
A controller meditates on the dynamics of a contemplated change in a small owner -managed company which must install a professionally- designed cost system in order to survive
and flourish.

Simulating a Cash Budget for a Small Manufacturer

25

by Sambo Murty Gullapalli
If you are a small firm having difficulties in preparing a cash budget because of the unpredictability of sales, future material prices, and wage rate increases, then simulation may be
your answer. Here's how one controller uses this quantitative technique.

Analyzing Initial and Growth Financing for Small Businesses

30

Ray G. Jones
Basically, every entrepreneur is confronted with the challenge of obtaining sufficient capital at the lowest cost possible. However, many small businesses do not have the time or
experience to analyze their financing needs and, therefore, tend to solve their problems
intuitively. A solution to this dilemma is the technique of goal programming and the rotation
of priorities.

Estimating Profit and Cash Flow for a New Funeral Home

35

By Bart P. Hartman and Joseph F. Cheleno
Demographics is a vital consideration when projections of revenues, expenses, and cash
flows are drawn up for a funeral home. Here's a description of how two consultants put
together a financial package for the SBA's consideration.

Managment
Accounting
Issue

How We Comply with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

39

By Glenn M. McQueary II and Michael P. Risdon
Two corporate auditors at Cummins Engine Co. tell how their company devised a complete
internal control system to comply with the provisions of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.
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Accounting
& Reporting

A New Approach to Business Combinations
By J. Terry Dewberry

as

The controversial accounting for business combinations issue has surfaced again. One
financial accountant offers his solution to the confusion (FASB, please note) —a combination of the purchase and pooling methods.

Improving Present Value Analysis
With a Programmable Calculator

52

By Amy Hing -Ling Lau and Hong - Shiang Lau
Before the programmable calculator, some statistical techniques were too impractical and
time- consuming. Now quantitative techniques are at the manager's fingertips to help him
or her integrate subjective judgments into logically consistent decisions.

NAA
Progress
Report

Accreditation of Accounting Programs
At Colleges and Universities

58

By James Bulloch
Here is a progress report on the attempt to establish accreditation standards for accounting programs at colleges and universities.

Departments

Data Sheet items of interest for business managers

5

Management Accounting Practices on government contracts

6

Letters to the editor

8

People in the News all about members and other financial executives

Future Issues

60

Tax management may be just as important as cash management: that's a theme of
the December issue which features a series of articles on tax accounting in multinational
corporations, partnerships, and in both small and large firms. Watch for these future theme
issues: marketing cost analysis in January, banking and financial institutions in February,
and environmental accounting in March.

Cover:
Cummins powered
concrete mixer
driving through
snow - covered
canyon. Photo
courtesy of
Cummins Engine
Co., Ind.
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In the last few years our organization and otheraccounting bodies, aswell
as some individuals, have been engaged in a continuing effort to define
management accounting and identify its common body of knowledge,
Some NAA members are involved directly in formulating standards for
accreditation of accounting educational programs, with a particular interest in the management accounting aspect of the profession.
To provide some structure or framework for the concepts and techniques of management accounting, we need to encourage a concensus with regard to definition of the field. In my talks at NAA functions, I
often describe management accounting as: "the systematic and ongoing information function that enables an organization to:
1. Determine and articulate its objectives;
2. Measure and monitor its progress toward such objectives,
and
3. Fulfill its accountability responsibility to its many internal and
external constituencies."
Although very brief, these three roles for management accounting
represent a most critical function in our society. The definition is also
relatively unconstraining because it does not deal with the particular
ways that management accounting may fulfill such roles. It is of course
recognized that management accountants often play additional roles
in their organizations including acting as a part of management.
Recently, NAA was asked to comment on a rather lengthy definition
of management accounting prepared by the Management Accounting
Committee of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). We
responded by indicating significant agreement while offering some alternative suggestions. As a part of that response we suggested that
"Management accounting isthe processof identification, accumulation, analysis and preparation of information for use by management in planning and controlling the operations of an organization
and assuring appropriate accountability for, and the utilization of,
its assets. It also includes the preparation of financial reports to
management
and nonmanagement
groups
9
9
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creditors, and regulatory and tax authorities,"
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We also included an exhibit comparing the management accounting
and public accounting segments of our profession as currently practiced in the United States. While recognizing
9
9 an overlap
P of the two
areas, the comparison emphasized the planning and control aspects
of management accounting and the third party attestation aspect of
public accounting. We pointed out that "NAA is committed to the field
of management accounting and has a strong interest in the process of
of the profession."
giving focus and substance to this segment
9
P
In future "perspectives" I plan to comment on some basic attributes
of a profession, the nature of management accounting in this context
and the related activities and challenges
9 for NAA as the leading9 or ganization of the Management Accounting Profession.
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SEC are based on this responsibility."

Data Sheet
Robert F. Randall, Editor

SEC Chairman Warns on FCPA
The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act should not
be viewed narrowly and complied with grudgingly, in letter but not spirit, SEC Chairman Harold M. Williams told members of the American
Bar Assn. meeting in Dallas. Such a reaction
will only harden the lines between those who
urge more control and those who urge less
control by government over corporations. "If,
on the other hand, the response of the private
sector addresses the concerns and public perceptions which motivated Congress in enacting
it, then an important and constructive link in the
evolving philosophy of corporate accountability
will have been forged. That link is one which
would do much to demonstrate the effectiveness of corporate self - discipline— administered
not primarily by government, but by each corporation in conjunction with its outside accountants and counsel." He added, in reference to
the cost of installing new systems to comply
with the law, "Effective management depends
upon the exercise of informed judgment in
.spending
..
corporate funds
and I do not read
. . a mandate to abthe accounting provisions .as
dicate that judgment in favor of the unthinking
application of costly new controls."

Medium -sized Companies Hiring More
Finance Executives, Says Half
Increasingly, medium -sized companies with a
controller are adding a chief financial officer —
or promoting the controller to chief financial officer and hiring a replacement, according to
Robert Half, president of the international personnel agency chain. He said that companies
with $50 -$200 million volume are adding financial executives at a 60% higher rate than last
year. Mr. Half believes that most of the increase in medium -sized firm executive financial
personnel is because of "the need to pay more
attention to cost controls during this extraordinary period of both double -digit inflation and recession." Another trend: A growing number of
smaller companies, particularly those with a
$25 -$50 million volume, are establishing assistant controller positions.

Business /Accounting Briefs

In response to an AICPA ruling prohibiting accounting firms from providing executive search
services for SEC audit clients, Arthur Young &
Co. has formed a new service organization to
provide executive search services to corporations which are audited by other CPA firms and
to non -SEC audit clients of AY. Arthur Young
Executive Resource Consultants initially will
have its offices in New York, but the firm plans
to expand its services to major cities worldwide.
Edwin S. Mruk is the managing director of the
new organization.... Arthur Andersen has issued a new booklet, Inflation Accounting —A
Simplified Approach. The firm would report, as
supplemental data, the effects of inflation on
net income and earnings per share based upon
Auditors Says that CEO Should Sign
three adjustments, including a "provision for
Statement on Internal Control
the maintenance of capital" to reflect the impact that general price level changes have on
The Institute of Internal Auditors has recom- shareholders' equity.... Soak the rich? If the
mended to the SEC that annual reports of all income subject to taxation in brackets above
public companies should contain a statement 50% was confiscated outright, it would run the
on internal accounting control signed by the federal government for 5.6 days, says Tax
chief executive officer. The recommendation Foundation, Inc.... Merger trend in public acwas made in response to the SEC's request for counting continues as Alexander Grant & Co.
comments on its proposal dealing with a State- and Laventhol & Horwath announce merger
ment of Management on Internal Accounting talks. Big 6 competition has hurt many of the
Control. IIA Executive Vice President Robert L. smaller firms, according to some observers, beRichmond said: "The internal auditor is primari- cause audit committees frequently urge comly responsible to operating management and panies to select only the biggest accounting
the board of directors for reviewing and evalu- firms. One of the biggest, Peat Marwick Interating systems of internal control, including in- national, reported revenues of $673.8 million
ternal accounting control. Our comments to the for the year ended June 30, up 15 %.
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Recent proposals made by the Financial Accounting Standards Board and the Internal
Revenue Service are in order, the Management
Accounting Practices Committee agreed. The
Committee was somewhat more critical of the
Cost Accounting Standards Board in connection with one of its intended rulings. The FASB
had issued a proposed Financial Accounting
Standard, "Accounting for Income Taxes Related to U.K. Tax Legislation Concerning Stock
Relief." It provides that U.S. enterprises doing
business in the United Kingdom would not have
to accrue income taxes related to potential repayments of "stock relief' tax benefits under
certain conditions. The term "stock relief' is
used in the U.K. to mean the income tax deduction that companies may take for increases in
inventory. The tax savings arising from that deduction must be repaid, however, if inventories
decrease in future years. Due to recent changes in the U.K. tax law which modify those recapture provisions, the Board is proposing that
certain previously established deferred taxes
related to "stock relief' should be reversed as
of July 26, 1979, the date the new legislation
was enacted, and that subsequent accrual or
reversal of income taxes related to "stock relief' depends on whether recapture is probable. The MAP Committee considers the proposal to be reasonable.
An item in this column last month discussed
a proposal by the IRS to amend its LIFO conformity regulations so that certain supplementary or explanatory disclosures by a LIFO basis
taxpayer of an earnings measure other than
historical cost LIFO would not risk violating the
LIFO election privilege. The proposed change
in the IRS rules would be especially important
in view of the expected requirements by the
FASB for companies to report constant dollar
and current cost information in addition to his-

a

MAP Committee Comments on
Proposals

a

a

Louis Bisgay, Editor

Drs

Management
Accounting
Practices

torical cost -based primary financial statements.
Again, the MAP Committee endorses the proposed changes.
As regards the CASB proposed changes to
the rules on Contract Coverage and on the
c losure Statement (MAP, August 1979), the
MAP Committee believes that "the Board's desire to remove obsolete material, increase clarity, and achieve greater consistency of language is a commendable one." The Committee
also believes, however, that the rules, as proposed, likely would lead to further confusion,
disputes and inequities. Adopting the proposed
contract clauses to firm fixed price contracts
would, in the opinion of the MAP Committee:
Deny either party to a contract an adjustment
when costs are increased or decreased as a
result of changes mandated by law by promulgating an agreement between the parties not
anticipated when the contract was executed.
Substantively duplicate the certificate required by the Truth -in- Negotiations Act.
Complicate the negotiation and administration of subcontracts.
Recognize or require two interpretations of
"increased costs."
The Committee suggested that the CASB seek
a solution that would apply in a uniform manner
to all contracts and subcontracts and not give
an advantage to either the government or to a
contractor.
FASB on Qualitative Characteristics,
Technical Bulletins, and an
Interpretation
The FASB has released for public comment the
proposed Statement of Financial Accounting
Concepts, "Qualitative Characteristics: Criteria
for Selecting and Evaluating Financial Accounting and Reporting Policies." As another development within the Board's conceptual framework project, the exposure draft would provide
guidance in choosing from among accounting
and reporting alternatives the one that produces the "best" or most useful information for decision- making purposes. Last November, the
Board published the first Statement of Concepts, "Objectives of Financial Reporting by
Business Enterprises." That statement identified usefulness of financial information for investment, credit, and similar decisions as the
most important objective of financial reporting.
The newly proposed statement is concerned
with criteria to determine the most useful reporting information. It discusses the essential
qualities of "relevance" and "reliability" and
the trade -offs that sometimes must be made

Continued on page 64
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Knowing what it's worth
can be worth a lot.
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Letters

TO THE EDITOR

Doggerel to Ease the Shift

So please bear with us, for a period of time
Until our new system catches up
with thine.
P.S. If for the same invoice, you
get paid twice
Returning our check would be
very nice.

However, the article by James A.
Millar, "Hospital Equipment Leasing,"
leaves several points unclear. The first
disparity concerns the leasing cash flows
that are contrasted with the purchase
analysis in Table 1. A lease with a three year "bargain" renewal provision would
probably be capitalized and reported as
a purchase for Medicare reimbursement
Harry found a creative solution to a purposes. Such treatment would equate
frustrating situation; I'm sure his poem the two sets of cash flows and the indifbrightened the days of many people.
ference point would be obtained with
Yale D. Hartley much less effort than is implied.
Microflect
Secondly, Mr. Millar suggests that
Salem, Ore.
borrowed funds should be discounted at
a different rate than funds that are "surplus" and available in the organization's
On 'Healthy' Leasing
bank accounts. Nonsense. The source of
I was impressed with your July issue, funding should not matter. Either the
emphasizing accounting for health care average cost of capital or the borrowing
organizations. These firms, along with rate should be used as the criterion rate
other nonprofit and service organiza- for DCF analysis. The financial analyst
tions, do not yet receive sufficient atten- should determine whether the decision
tion in the literature. Your efforts in this is sensitive to either.
direction should be encouraged.
Continued on page 10

Our company recently changed from
manual to computer processing of accounting information. While we attempted to solve the resulting problems
inherent in such a transition, some of
our bills became overdue and our suppliers became impatient.
Harry Kale, one of our accounting
personnel in charge of accounts payable, used a humorous approach to explain our problem. For the period during which the system was the slowest,
this poem was sent out with our checks
to suppliers:
TO OUR SUPPLIERS
Please be patient, please be kind
We're trying our best to pay you
on time
A computer transition, as you
probably know
Can boggle the mind, and make
things slow.

'

'

'
'

'
'
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"Up and running at

Peugeot in sixty days."

age

"Peugeot, producing 2.5 million vehicles a year, is now the third largest
automobile maker in the world. Domestically, Peugeot needed a
comprehensive data base - oriented financial reporting system that could be
implemented quickly, with the least amount of impact on data processing
and accounting staffs and resources.
"We did not want to 're- invent the wheel', and after a thorough
review, we selected Software International's Accounts Payable software
package to start. We planned to follow that with their General Ledger
a year later, but since Payables went in smoothly in only 60 days,
we installed the Ledger six months ahead of schedule.
James F. Miller Assistant to the President
(PEUGEOT
MO T O R S O F A ME R IC A , INC .

"There was no need for either accounting or data processing to compromise with either s ystem. Prior to c hoosing Software International, we

surveyed their customers and our'Big 8' auditors, and were well satisfied with reliability, field support and system performance,
"Preparing for anticipated growth in the U.S. market,
Peugeot recently completely reorganized its field operations.
Changing from seven regions to three zones meant realigning
our reporting system to the new organization. Within 24 hours, the
General Ledger provided us with necessary management reports
without skipping a beat."
M O T O R E
Bernard F. Steiner Treasurer •'

R I

.

General Ledger and Financial Reporting
Fixed Asset Accounting • Accounts Receivable
Accounts Payable • Payroll/ Personnel
Net Change Manufacturing Resource Planning

More than software ... results.

t

`

"We believe, and more than 1500
major corporations around the world
back us up, that we offer the most
cost - effective, reliable and easy to- use - financial and manufacturing
control systems available.
'' But it takes more than great
systems for successful implementation. Software International
supports all of its products with
a world -wide network of local
offices staffed with professionals whose wide range of
experience covers both data
processing and business.
Users benefit from this expertise with training, technical
support, comprehensive documentation, maintenance and
regular enhancements.

Chet Domoracki
Vice President, Small Business System Division
Software International Corporation

■
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Wheny9u
need thebest,
limited time.

accoun

You need an Accoun temps professional. They're
trai ned acco u nt an ts , bo o kk eepers , aud it ors an d ed p
experts who are ready at a moment's notice to take over
a j o b without missing a beat. And to finish it in the
shortest possible time. In short, to keep your temporary
problems temporary.
Accountemps specialists are available for a day, a
week or longer. Check the white pages for the Account emp s office nearest you.

A registered trademark of the Robert Hall organization.

World's largest temporary service specializing
exclusively in Accounting, Bookkeeping and
Data Processing emergencies.
Copyright 1979 Robert Hatt
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Continued from page 8

In summary, the notation of a break even or indifference criterion can be useful in the analysis of lease- versus -buy alternatives. It is unfortunate that Mr.
Millar confused the capital financing issue and the lease capitalization issue.
Bruce R. Neumann
Albany, N. Y.

MIS Is Welcome
Your decision to add a column on Management Information Systems is welcome. It is pleasing to see that the editor
will be Dr. Lucas. His first column, although very brief, presents the unneeded tension that exists in many organizations between the users and data processing division. This unnecessary tension is unfortunate indeed. It's relieved
only when the data processing division
and the users, whoever they may be, realize that the organization goals are the
reason for the existence of both parties.
Only by attempting to understand the
capability available in the data processing division by the users and, likewise,
the data processing division striving to
understand the objectives of the user,
can we come together to take maximum
advantage of the expertise of both areas.
I look forward to future columns by
Dr. Lucas.
Joseph F. Smith
Assistant vice President
American Bank and Trust Co.
Lansing, Mich.

The Accountant and the Sports
Franchise
"An Accountant Profiles a Sports Franchise" in the May 1979 issue was most
revealing in its behind - the - scenes look
at sports franchise accounting. The
New Orleans Jazz, mentioned as an expansion team in the article, has recently
fallen on hard times. In fact, their move
to Salt Lake City is all but accomplished, The general partners of the club
have offered to repurchase the minority
limited partnership shares for their cost
plus 8% interest. The repurchase involves several hundred "stockholders"
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING/ NOVEMBER 1979

and between 90 and 100 thousand dollars. The general partners admit they
have sustained a serious financial loss
but do not wish the limited partners to
sustain a loss on their limited investment. It would appear that the creation
of "goodwill" in this particular circumstance is not the traditional definition as
contemplated in generally accepted accounting principles. And has anyone
thought about how the IRS is going to
treat the interest payment — ordinary or
capital gain, expense or capital loss?
Gene J. Hymel
New Orleans, La.

Not a Vote of Confidence
The authors of "The Future of Forecasting" (Aug. '79), missed the most important deduction implied in their study
of the desirability of publishing managements' forecasts of future earnings.
They reached the conclusion that neither investors nor financial analysts
would use published forecast figures.
Now, it must be obvious that if investors or financial analysts had any confi-

dence in those forecasts they would use
them. Obviously, then, investors and financial analysts, and especially CFAs,
are of the opinion that the managements
of our publicly -owned companies have
little or no idea of where their companies are going. Could any anti - capitalist
make a more derogatory criticism of the
current managements of American business?
Philip B. Ostrow
White Plains, N. Y.

Puzzled on Credit Collection
Speaking as a credit manager for many
years, the August article titled, "Improving Credit Collection Responses,"
puzzles me. The authors patently used
the wrong collection approach, even
though the idea was sound.
First of all, a significant percentage of
accounts with items from one to 30 days
past due will pay without prodding. The
letter offered as a sample, however,
might be suitable to mail, to insure that
your account, not someone else's, receives the customer's attention.

But, the letter shown was sent to accounts which were about three months
delinquent. Significantly, neither made
any demand for full payment and both
allowed the debtor (at 60 days, a customer generally becomes one) to either
set his own repayment plan or to tell
you he wasn't going to pay at all!
The display letters might be a reasonable reminder to accounts which have
only just become slightly overdue, but
their effect on seriously delinquent accounts was predictably negligible, especially when it came to obtaining fall
payment.
So, while the authors' exercise was
well- intentioned, it was held together
with the wrong glue. I think that the
results of the program would have been
vastly different if the authors had used
proven and tested collection letters as
opposed to what appears to be mere
public relations. And, since most department stores are ineffectual when it
comes to collections (some old -line
stores actually fear losing an account
that pays six - months slow!), I don't
think your criteria were meaningful.
Continued on page 64

Let these experts help you achieve full
compliance with the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act and new SEC regulations
for internal accounting control
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Lybrana;
by Kenneth P. Johnson, CPA, ViceChairman and Technical Counsel, Coopers
Marshall College
and Henry R. Jaenicke, CPA,Department of Business Administration, Franklin
How
to
generate
on
-going
stall'
analysis and optimization
An in- depth, methodical resource that focuses the expertine of leading accountants on your most pressing concerns
of controls
How to strengthen the internal audit capability
about internal control. Step -by -step, you...
*How to improve communication with the Audit
*Analyze the conceptual and practical problems ofevaluating internal accounting controls and implementing
Committee
needed changes
Detailed appendices provide on- the -spot guidance with...
*Build on cycle- approach evaluation criteria recomvital questions auditors must ask ... full explanations of promended by the AICPA Special Advisory Committee on cedures and processes, and their effect on the internal control
Internal Accounting Control
system ... easy-to-follow examples ol'what can go wrong and
*Gain immediate access to essential forms, questionnaires, why... details of how to correct defi6encies... realistic
and procedures readily adaptable to your company's
methods for evaluating and improving the payments cycl e.
precise needs.
with techniques easily adaptable to all other accounting
Plus learn all the essentials of...
systems.
ISBN 0 471 05620 -0
approx. 650 pp.
$34.95 (tent.)
How to design and install an evaluation program that
fully satisfies the requirements of recent legislation and
regulations
RONALD PRESS
a division of John Wiley Sons, Inc.
Order your copy today. CALL TOLL FREE 800 -645 -6122.
605 Third Avenue, New York, N.Y. 10016
(in New York State, call Collect 516-747 -0434.) Don't delay!
0 -7361.
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Shaw - Walker.
One right answer
to those one -write
deliberations.

Well. You've been asked to recommend
an easy -to -use yet affordable one -write
accounting system. And you know
anything you say, you'll have to live
with. So you deliberate.

You hedge.
Shaw - Walker manual accounting
systems are what you've recommended
in the past. But, what do you say to a
client more interested in price than
quality and service?

You search...
for a quality, service- oriented system
(like Shaw - Walker's) tailored to the
needs and means of your client.

You flounder...
in a sea of binders and logs, ledgers
and carbons, stubs and journals.

And you brood.
Because all the one -write systems have
nice features, but ... well, you still like
Shaw - Walker.
Until finally, when it all seems
hopeless ...

You find it! Stateline
Of course, the only people who could
make a system like Shaw - Walker's is
Shaw - Walker. They knew what you
needed and they weren't about to let
you down. They created Stateline.
Stateline. More economical. (Up to a
40% savings!) A new design. Working
hardware on the left. More compact in
size. But still a Shaw - Walker system
with its recognized service and
dependability. Fast initial delivery and
prompt supply replacement. And of
course, custom - designed forms are
available as usual.

Stateline.
Shaw - Walker and you are making a
good move.
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - I'm still deliberating.
Please send me more information.

a„e
Firm
Address

-

-

-

-

- 7
1
1
1
I
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

City/State /zip

'

Mail to: Shaw - Walker
5 Division Street
Muskegon, MI 49443

1
1
1
1

Now please don't gloat. It's unbecoming
a person of your insight.

SHAWIWALKER
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Small Business:
A Question of Survival
As never before, entrepreneurs need the expert help of
accountants, consultants, and bankers —as well as a little charity
from W ashington.

By Morris Gartenberg, Technical Editor
Small businesses today are overwhelmed by federal regulations, taxes, and, of course, inflation. The
plight of small business has not gone unnoticed,
however, for the lack of attention in the past recently has been converted to a string of big and
little victories for small businessmen and women.
Some of this momentum was supplied a year and
a half ago by a series of conferences on small
business launched by the President, which will
culminate in a White House conference on small
business in January 1980. The purposes of this
meeting are to focus attention on the small
entrepreneurs and to spur government action
encouraging their development.
In order to encourage a better climate for small
business, a united front of national small business
organizations has been established. Some of these
groups include the National Federation of Independent Business, the National Small Business
Association and the Small Business Legislative
Council. There's also the Council of Small and
Independent Business Associations made up of
the above national groups and other, regional, orThis month, MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING features a series of articles relating to the problems of
small business.
14

ganizations. All are striving to reduce the regulations and tax burdens imposed on small business.
The success of the groups is illustrated by their
impact on recent legislation. For example, incorporated into the 1978 tax law was the principle of
taxing the first $100,000 of corporate income at
lower rates than subsequent profits. Also won was
a reduced maximum tax rate on capital gains encouraging the availability of venture capital for
small businesses. Lobbying efforts also have
helped kill proposals to create a federal consumer
affairs agency and to expand construction unions'
picketing rights.
Small business support in Congress has grown.
Senator Gaylord Nelson, chairman of the Senate
Small Business Committee, is introducing the
"Small Business Innovation Act of 1979." The bill
includes the following provisions:
1. Deferral of capital gains on the sale of securities of a small business that are reinvested in
another small firm.
2. Allocation of 10% of each federal agency's research and development contracts to small
businesses.
3. Retention of patent rights for some inventions
developed under federally- supported programs.
4. Reduction of regulatory burden on small businesses by government agencies.
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING /NOVEMBER 1979

Another small business bill that aids capital formation is Senator Lowell Weicker's "Small Business Investment Incentive Act." It would allow a
10% investment credit on the first $7,500 of investment in small business stock. The stock must
be purchased no more than 180 days after its issuance to qualify, and the total equity capital of the
company may not exceed $25 million.
Finally, Senator John Chafee introduced a bill
that would allow small businesses to depreciate
highway transportation equipment and tools and
dies over a two -year period. The bill also would
permit machinery fixtures and other equipment to
be depreciated over five years, and real estate improvements to be depreciated over ten years.
Competition from giant corporations is another
factor that small entrepreneurs must contend
with. To the rescue is Senator Edward Kennedy's
bill to curb corporate mergers. Of course, this bill
is supported by small business organizations, but
the large corporations look on it as a spoon of
poison,
Even the Securities & Exchange Commission is
offering aid. In order to ease requirements for
small companies to sell securities in the equities
market, the SEC has reduced the cost and red
tape involved in filing new issues. The new rules
will allow firms with less than $1 million in assets
and fewer than 500 shareholders to raise up to $5
million on the public market.

their money into these high -yield issues.
Why should the smaller company consider the
public market for raising capital? One reason is
because the beneficial impact o1' the equity on a
firm's balance sheet can be significant. For example, a company that raises money from issuing
stock simultaneously broadens its equity base so
that it can increase its borrowing; capacity. It may
also be cheaper for a company to pay dividends
after taxes than paying interest on long -term debt
(the effective tax rate would be a factor here).
Avoiding a bank's loan floating rate of prime plus
3% is another inducement for a public offering
where bonds may be a cheaper way to obtain
funds for the smaller company. Another reason:
the covenants of a loan may be too restrictive,
such as maintaining a minimum level of working
capital, net worth and net income; with public
money, a company has more flenibility.
Paying out record high interest rates may put a
damper on smaller companies' access to the public
market. But the momentum for these firms has
begun. Certainly the management of these companies cannot overlook the possible; accrued benefits
of raising capital in the public market, such as
savings in financial costs, more borrowing capacity, greater liquidity of common stock, more exposure in the market place, and th,: public relations
benefits of a prospectus.

Raising Capital and Securing Loans

A major problem for small entrepreneurs is securing loans for continuing operations or starting
a new business. This is particularly important for
those firms that do not have access to the public
market and are unable to raise capital. Faced with
this perennial problem, small businesses should
seek practical help from the Small Business Administration (SBA), banks, accountants, suppliers
and possibly business brokers. p, local bank will
help structure the financing by perhaps using a
line of credit for inventory. The bank may also
help in the short -term investment of capital being
held for emergencies.
Accountants can advise whether the business
stands a good chance for a loan based on its financial position. In some cases, the accountant has
been exposed to similar problems and can offer
invaluable assistance in making sound business
decisions,
Suppliers may be willing to extend additional
credit and payment terms as the means to maintain a business and goodwill. They may also be
willing to store merchandise and .;hip directly to a
customer. Another means the supplier may be of
help is offering to hold ordered merchandise,
thereby reducing a small business' warehouse
cost. Consolidated orders may reduce the number
of shipments as well.
Continued on page 24

As noted above, small businesses have, collectively, successfully gained strength through organizational and Congressional support. Although
help has begun to emerge, what can the small entrepreneur do to persevere when monies are not
readily available for day -to -day survival? There
are, in fact, many sources available to the small
business seeking capital.
Today, many small- and medium -sized companies have access to the public market, but this was
not always the case. For at least five years prior to
1978, investment bankers were giving these companies the cold shoulder treatment because the
potential supply of funds was limited and there
were plenty of corporate giants available to tap. In
1978, however, the accessibility of these companies to the public market changed. Small- and medium -sized companies now were welcomed back
to the public market. Even companies just going
public were able to raise equity capital in the new
issues market.
There are a number of reasons for this turnaround. Rising prices for secondary stocks helped
the sales of equity by the smaller firms. Brokers
and underwriters also were instrumental in stimulating demand for high -yield bonds of small companies. Even insurance companies and pension
fund investment managers were putting some of
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING /NOVEMBER 1979

Last year small
and medium sized firms were
welcomed back
to the public
market.

Strapped for Funds

15

How to Finance
a Small Business
An entrepreneur must finance his business properly
—or risk quick disaster.

By William Wucinich

William Wucinich is
controller of Danner
Press Corp. of Canton,
Ohio. He has a B.S. in
business administration
and an MBA, both from
Kent State University.
He is a member of the
Canton Chapter
through which this
article was submitted. It
won a Certificate of
Merit in 1978.79.

A small company is approaching its peak sales
season, but it has only enough cash to purchase
inventory for normal production requirements.
At the same time, two young men have been
meeting nightly to formulate a new concept in
clothing store operations. They are sure it will be
successful if they can just raise the necessary capital.
These business situations illustrate two basic
problems facing owners of most small companies —a need for capital and lack of financial expertise and knowledge required to determine the
firm's financial needs.
Insufficient financing is a major cause of small
business failure. In fact, Dun & Bradstreet ranks
it as one of the nine major pitfalls of managing a
small business. A lack of financial understanding
and planning may cause the small entrepreneur to
apply for an incorrect amount of funds or perhaps
obtain the wrong type of financing, so the wise
owner will analyze his firm carefully to determine
the most appropriate loan request package. The
guidelines presented here should help an owner or
manager determine the firm's financial requirements and the financial information that could be
included in a loan request.
Analyzing the Company's Needs
Four basic questions should be answered when
assessing a company's financing needs.

tg

1. Why Do I Need the Money? The answer
to this question should not be stated in specific
terms such as "remodeling the office" but should
be translated into the basic need it represents. A
funds shortage during peak production could indicate a lack of working capital rather than a need
to finance growth in inventories. The apparent
need, therefore, may be only a symptom of a deeper financial problem.
2. How and When Will 1 Repay the Money? This answer will be determined by the answer given to the first question. For example, if
the real problem is a lack of working capital, a
specific type of loan of the medium to long -term
nature may be necessary. If so, a plan to repay this
type ofloan may be different from one that is used
to finance the start -up ofa new business.
3. How ,Much Do I Need? Again, the answer
to the first two questions will determine the necessary amount. If a firm projects a quick increase in
cash flow, it probably can borrow a smaller
amount than if it expects cash growth to be over a
longer term.
4. Can I Afford the Cost of the Money? The
general rule is as follows: The income generated
by the funds always should outweigh the cost of
the funds. This cost can be measured by either the
interest charged or the amount of ownership relinquished. By any measure, money has a cost that
must be considered just as is any other cost of
operations.
These four questions provide the basis for anaMANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING /NOVEMBER 1979

lyzing a firm's financing requirements. Answering
them requires a detailed examination of the firm
and its operations, including careful projections of
anticipated revenues and expenses. This type of
analysis will enable the firm to plan its financing
needs rather than react to them.
Selecting the Right Bank
Choosing a bank is one of the most important
decisions management will make. Before beginning its search, the firm should prepare a list of its
banking requirements, including current and projected types and sizes of loans, credit limits, and
special services such as factoring. Then, based on
these requirements, the company should make a
list of those banks that are large enough to satisfy
its needs but small enough to value its business.
This information can be compiled by the owners
visiting various banks and talking to loan officers.
Also, copies of past shareholders' reports could be
examined to determine the bank's financial
strength.
To determine whether a bank can service a
company's needs, management requires certain information, such as the experience of the bank's
loan officers in general and in the company's industry in particular; the identity of the person
who has the responsibility for making a loan decision; the cutoff on loan amounts when the responsibility for loan approval is shifted to other officers
or departments; and what specific services, other
than lending, the bank can offer.
Before making a final decision, management
must be sure that the bank's lending policies can
be tailored to the company's needs. Note that the
interest rate may be a minor consideration in the
final decision. More important is the bank's willingness to come up with additional funding when
the firm is short of cash.
Once a company owner has formulated a financing plan and has chosen a bank to apply for
the loan, his presentation of the loan request becomes crucial. An applicant's ability to plan and
organize his material for the presentation usually
has a favorable impact on the lending institution,
which will improve his chances of obtaining the
desired funds.
Determining a Loan Package
Depending on the circumstances, a bank may
require all or a portion of the outline presented.
For example, detailed information concerning the
principal officer of a stable firm known to the
lender probably will not be required. But a new
business may be required to furnish most of the
data shown in the loan package outline.

The Loan Package Outline
General loan information
•
•
•
•
•

Nature of business
Amount and purpose of loan
Repayment terms
Equity share of borrower (equity /debt ratio after loan)
Security or collateral (listed with market value estimates and
quotes on cost of equipment to be purchased with the loan proceeds)

Personal information on principal owners
•
•
•
•

Educational and work history
Credit references
Income tax statements
Financial statement

Firm information (whichever is applicable below —A,B, or C)
A. New business
• Business plan (outlining proposed method of operations and
how the loan will aid the firm in meeting its obligations)
• Life and casualty insurance coverage
• Lease agreements
B. Business acquisition (buyout)
• Information on acquisition
Business history (include seller's name and reason for sale)
Current balance sheet
Current profit and loss statement
Business' federal income tax statements (past three to five
years)
Cash flow statements for last year
Copy of sales agreement with breakdown of inventory, fixtures, equipment, licenses, goodwill and other costs
Description and dates of permits already acquired
Business plan
Life and casualty insurance
C. Existing business expansion
• Information on existing business
Business history
Current balance sheet
Current profit and loss statements
Cash flow statements for last year
Federal income tax returns for past three to five years
Lease agreement and permit data
• Business plan
• Life and casualty insurance
Projections
Profit and loss projection (monthly, one year) and an explanation of projections
Cash flow projection (monthly, for one year) and an explanation
of projections
Projected balance sheet (one year after loan) and an explanation
of projections

Requesting the Loan
To determine what could be required in a loan
request package, I conducted a survey of area
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING /NOVEMBER 1979
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bank loan officers -15 responded. The results are
interpreted as follows: Out of a total of 15 respondents, 12 required an actual cash flow statement,
12 requested a pro forma statement, and so on.
Number
requesting
Information

&

&

Actual cash flow statement
Pro forma cash flow statement
Actual P
L statement
Pro forma P
L statement
Actual balance sheet
Pro forma balance sheet
Accounts receivable aging
Accounts payable aging
Company plan for the future
Insurance program — business
Insurance program— personal
Personal history of key officers
Major customer list
Major vendor list
List of mortgageable assets
Financial statement of key officers

Loan
applicants, like
Boy Scouts,
must be
prepared.

12
12
15
12
15
13
11
10
12
11
9
12
12
11
10
15

In addition, data such as terms for leased equipment, a list of equipment along with a depreciation schedule, and a source and application of
funds statement could be required.
Although not all of this information is required
for every lending situation, if most or all of it is
available for the first interview, chances for a
quick and favorable result increase markedly.
Obtaining the Loan —a Case Study
To understand how the exact information required by a bank is dependent on the circumstances of the firm requesting the funds, examine
this actual loan situation. A group of individuals
forms a new company to sell and service a number
of lines of commercial equipment. Each of the
principals has expertise in a different aspect of the
industry, including sales, finance and service. In
addition, each is familiar with the entire industry
so that the loss of one would not materially inhibit
the operations of the firm.
By the time they approach the bank —which
was chosen because of previous dealings with one
of the owners —they have made initial capital investments sufficient to allow the firm to buy a
building and begin to remodel it to their specifications. Initial working capital was provided by
foregoing salaries for the first two months of operations, additional investment by the owners, prepayment of orders by customers, and short-term
financing from another bank. The need now is for
a more permanent type of financing in the form of
a line of credit.
The firm provided the loan officer with the following information:
1. An unaudited income statement prepared by a
18

CPA covering the first two months of operations.
2. Personal financial statements for each owner.
3. A list of the current order backlog broken
down into totals of:
a. Firm contracts.
b. Tentative contracts for which customer
commitments have been made but signed
purchase orders not yet received.
c. Potential contracts based on expectations of
commitments.
4. Literature from the suppliers concerning the
company's equipment and brochures.
Then the loan officer prepared, with the owners'
assistance, pro forma statements based on the
"firm" contracts backlog, visited the company's
premises, and contacted a number of the new
firm's equipment suppliers.
The bank granted them a renewable line of
credit. The decision to lend the funds was based
on the promising potential of the firm due to:
1. The owners' background —all officers had experience in the industry, and each offered depth
to the organization as one could replace another if circumstances warranted.
2. The strong backlog built up after only a short
period of operation.
3. Favorable opinions of the firm's suppliers.
4. The presence of sound and innovative business
thinking as evidenced by:
a. The sponsorship of a manufacturer's school
for users in the area.
b. The speed with which the firm was put into
operation after planning.
c. The offering of customized accounting systems to each of its customers.
d. The offering of a management program to
each of its customers, enabling them to concentrate on operations.
5. The willingness of the owners to sacrifice and
work in order to ensure the survival of the firm
as evidenced by their large initial investment
and the foregoing of salaries during its early
operations.
Normally businesses begin operations with
funds furnished by the owners and /or friends. As
a result, many owners have no idea how to proceed when the time comes for external financing.
Most new owners or advisers can follow the suggestions here for analyzing a firm's financing
needs and compiling the possible types of company information that may be required by lending
institutions when evaluating a loan request. There
is a limited amount of funding available for lending; therefore, as shown in the actual loan situation above, it is the prepared applicant who stands
the best chance of obtaining desired funding.
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING/ DECEMBER 1979

Planning a New Cost System:
the `Unfreezing' Stage
The transition of an owner - managed company to professional team
management often is a wrenching experience for career
employees. Their needs and concerns must be considered in order
to ensure the su ccess of the new system.

A company -wide change, such as the installation oj'
a new cost system, often is perceived as job- threatening by long -time employees. That is why such a
profound change must be thoroughly planned and
systematically carried out. The author describes
such a situation as it existed in 1976. In an epilogue, he describes the progress of the project.
By H. Andrew Connolly
Many companies start as small, family -owned operations —and grow into larger companies which
require professional management by a team of
people. As the company grows, changes in the
management structure and management style, are
dictated by the sheer volume of operations. Usually, this means that the family managers must
bring in outsiders to assist them in the management of the enterprise. This growth point, from
the entrepreneurial stage to the team management
stage, is often a difficult point to pass beyond for
the family members. It necessitates the relinquishing of some measure of control and authority to
nonfamily members, a difficult transition for
some. Yet, it is a crucial step to continued growth
and progress.
I joined a company that was faced with such a
situation. The firm is a small to medium - sized,
family -owned and operated manufacturing firm.
The company has grown considerably over the
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING/ NOVEMBER 1979

past ten years. Two subsidiary companies were
added about seven years ago. One of the subsidiaries provides the raw material base used in the
company's product while the other subsidiary
provides additional assembly capacity needed for
the increased volume which the company has attained. Since the addition of the subsidiary operations, however, return on investment has suffered
while, at the same time, management responsibilities have increased to the point where the two
family members cannot manage the entire operation effectively. In short, the company has evolved
out of the entrepreneurial stage.
Top management consists of two brothers in
their early fifties: one is president and he directly
supervises overall production and plant engineering; the other is treasurer, as well as V.P. sales
(although no such formal title exists), and he directly supervises the financial and sales functions
of the company. Most major decisions are made
jointly between them; that is, decisions which
would have a major bearing on the company as a
whole. Within their own areas (i.e., production or
sales), they are more independent of each other.
However, it would be safe to say that few decisions of any import are made without their joint
consultation and, generally, agreement.
I joined the company as a result ofthe creation
ofa new position in the company, namely that of
controller and cost supervisor. Previously, all fi-

H. Andrew Connolly is
a corporate controller
and assistant treasurer.
He has an MBA degree
from Clark University,
Worcester, Mass. He
was the 1978 -79
president of the
Massachusetts North
Central Chapter
through which this
article was submitted.
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If everyone is
perfectly happy
with the
current system,
no change will
come
about....
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nancial and accounting functions were the direct
responsibility of the treasurer who directed all
accounting record aspects of this area to the
bookkeeper, while the production and inventory
aspects were directed to the production and
inventory control manager, and cost analysis was
directed to the industrial engineer. The new position of controller, it was decided, would be a logical place to consolidate these responsibilities. At
the same time, the owners decided to have a cost
control system designed and established.
According to my job description, the controller
devises and installs new or modified
accounting systems to provide complete and
accurate records o f . . . financial transactions."
This was elaborated on to include the refining of
the present production control system so as to
make cost data on each individual work center
readily available. This data could then be used for
performance appraisal (efficiency basis), reject and
rework (quality control) analysis, yield analysis,
and ultimately for more accurate and timely updating of the finished product pricing. Because
this job description was created by top management, it indicated to me that the owners supported the changes necessary to design and install
such a cost system. Moreover, this had been repeatedly communicated to me from time to time
in a manner such as: "When we get the cost system i n, we wil l be abl e to ..." or: "... Thi s is
something we should get a better handle on when
we have the cost system in operation." Thus the
entire cost system would fall under my domain.
In my initial outline for this project, I felt that
the greatest resistance to the design and installation of a cost system would come from employees'
natural resistance to increased work, primarily paperwork. I further indicated that I intended to
survey our present cost reporting system to try to
minimize unnecessary change and duplication of
the already existing reporting system. The results
of my survey were somewhat surprising.
I discovered that a great deal of the reporting
that will be required for the proposed cost system
is now being approximated in the present reporting system. Although additional paperwork will
be necessary, the quantity will be less than I had
originally envisioned.
Also different than I had originally envisioned
is the interpersonal force field analysis. By means
of the interview /discussions which I held with the
key people who will be involved with the change,
I have discovered resistances that heretofore were
unknown and, conversely, some of the resistances
which I originally felt existed and would have to
be overcome, in fact, did not really exist at all.
To clarify my planning, I approached the subject by analyzing the key people who are to be
involved in the change with respect to their role
and their prejudices, pro or con, to the proposed

system. My approach incorporates the force field
analysis, with respect to whether the person is pro
or con, with the Lewin three -step model of change
process involving unfreezing, change, and
refreezing.'
In Kurt Lewin's model, change begins with an
unfreezing of the current or present situation.
This unfreezing is brought about primarily by the
existence of dissatisfaction with the present system among the people involved or by the creation
of dissatisfaction (by disaffirmation) with the present system by an outside force. (This would be
considered an induced change.) In other words, if
everyone is perfectly happy with the way things
are now, no change will come about. Since this
euphoric situation seldom exists, I made the assumption that there already did exist dissatisfaction among the people with the current system
and thus I set about finding it.
Who Is Dissatisfied and Why?
First of all, the most apparent evidence of dissatisfaction with the present system was found in
my job description created by top management.
The next evidences of dissatisfaction with the
present system came from the "Systems Man." I
shall call him this because this is how the top
management refers to him. Actually, he used to
head up the production and inventory control department. Then, it was indicated to him that he
would be "moved up" to a position of more responsibility. So he brought up the best man in his
department to replace him, and he has since been
waiting for his position of responsibility to either
open up or be created. In the meantime, he continues to keep his fingers in the production and
inventory control area as well as the data proceesing systems design with respect to production and
inventory control as well as cost systems. More
often, he serves as a sounding board for top management's ideas —sort of an in -house consultant.
He also has basic managerial control over one of
the subsidiaries. At least his control is on an operational basis and he provides a strong input to
long range planning for that subsidiary.
This systems man was primarily responsible for
the design and installation of the computerized
production and inventory control system now in
operation within the company and which has
proved to be most useful and, really, indispensable. His feelings were that the present system did
not go far enough but, with certain modifications,
it could be expanded to provide a very good cost
accumulation system for effective cost control.
The modifications referred to were mostly minor
systems changes and the installation of a more
powerful and versatile computer system: mainly a
system with disk capacity. The company is using a
card system —IBM System 3.
From the beginning it was implied by top manMANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING /NOVEMBER 1979

agement that this systems man and I would be
working jointly on the cost system project. I
would provide the necessary financial inputs regarding the financial outputs desired for effective
cost control; he would provide the production tie ins necessary and guide the system along as it was
being fabricated. He would provide the links necessary to the actual plant personnel, too, because
he was more familiar with them than I was.
Further discussions with him indicated that
there would be less actual change required than I
had originally anticipated. He had done a great
deal of reading on his own in the areas of management, management techniques, and, more recently, financial management. Having thus expanded
his production and inventory control knowledge
into the financial management area, he had been
able to foresee some of the financial requirements
that a cost system might require and, in so doing,
he had built some of the requirements into his
production and inventory control system as byproducts in the data base. What was needed now
was a system to retrieve, sort, and effectively use
these informational by- products as well as the capability to integrate new information that would
be added, so as to provide an adequate, nonduplicated, cost analysis base as input to a cost reporting structure.
The Data Processing Manager: Opportunity
The next key person with whom I spoke was
the data processing manager. He would be the
person who would actualize any system design
that I would come up with in conjunction with the
systems man. He, too, is convinced that a disk
system computer installation is a necessity before
any real cost analysis system can be installed.
With virtually no exception, he agrees point for
point with the systems man with regard to the
installation of the cost system. He's very much in
favor of it, sees certain difficulties which will be
encountered but can be overcome, and seems to be
looking forward to the operating challenge of the
installation.
It is interesting to note that data processing has
not always been his environment. He was formerly a garage mechanic until he was "discovered" by
people within the firm who knew him and felt he
had potential. He joined the company back in the
days of the first computers when the company actually had what is now known as an accounting
machine. He held a position as mechanic and did
much work on the machine where he demonstrated a proficiency at adapting and designing systems
within it. Thus he became a natural for the position he now holds, with some training along the
way, of course. He is now quite proficient and is
recognized by his colleagues throughout the county.
Regarding the cost system, he is interested in
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furthering his own knowledge with systems and
computers and the cost system provides him with
a vehicle for doing both. He would get more exercise in systems programming with the cost system
and, because of the greater requirements for sorting, collecting and analyzing data necessitated by
this cost system, he would be able to get working
experience with a more powerful computer system, namely a disk system. I am certain that this
latter point weighs heavily in his mind. To be
proficient with a disk system would certainly
make him feel a little more important among his
data processing colleagues. In addition, it would
certainly make him more versatile as a data processing manager if he should ever desire to look for
employment elesewhere. However, I feel this is a
moot point because he is in his mid fifties now, has
no apparent desire to leave his general locale, and
seems genuinely satisfied with his present position
and environment.

....If they are
dissatisfied with
the status quo,
change can be
effected.

The Treasurer: Show Me
It would be appropriate to mention here the
feeling of top management with regard to updating our computer installation with a disk system.
Management is rather stringent when it comes to
spending money unless it can be shown the value
to be received in return. An instance at hand is the
computer. Our treasurer is not fully aware of why
our present system isn't capable of doing the work
necessary for the cost system. I feel that he is beginning to accept what the systems man, the data
processing manager and I are all saying with regard to the capabilities of our present system and
the proposed system. However, he is still reluctant
to give his final "OK" to the disk system. We now
have a qualified "OK" in that we are out actively
shopping computer systems on a comparative basis. It will be interesting to see what happens when
we finally arrive at a decision as to which system
to settle down with. Essentially, I guess that's
where we'll find out just how committed top management really is to this cost system. Like most
other decisions, it will boil down to its cost effectiveness with regard to the economic concept of
"utils of satisfaction" 2 (intrinsic worth to the particular person involved). I believe that they will
come through in the final analysis and give us the
"go ahead" on the system.
Industrial Engineer: Cooperative
Another key person involved in this systems
change is the industrial engineer. Until a year ago,
coincident with my joining the company, he had
been solely responsible for all cost studies, cost
analysis and even cost -based pricing for the product line. Since this had been a major area of the
industrial engineer's responsibilities, I have no
doubts that he felt threatened by my presence.
More than likely he worried about the security of
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A change agent
always must be
ready to make
some
compromises.

his own position. Rumors had circulated for some
time after my arrival that an efficiency expert had
been added in order to reduce costs by eliminating
jobs. My reputation as a "headhunter" still persists in some areas.
Shortly after my arrival, I made a point to meet
this fellow and establish a rapport with him. For
one thing, I pretty much knew that he had nothing to fear with respect to job security as far as I
was concerned. And, besides, he had done a great
deal of the background work which I would find
most useful in my review and analysis and development of a cost program. I wanted to make sure
that he felt at ease with me so that he would feel
free to give me any and all the information I
would need: that which was on record, of course,
I would have access to; however, that which was
in his head would be inaccessible to me unless he
trusted me. It was this latter information that I
wanted to be sure of getting.
To date, my dealings with him have been successful. He seems to be assured that we will be
working together on this system, each of us having important inputs to make in order to arrive at
a successful system in the end. We have discussed
various cost accounting systems and their relevance to our particular operation. I have tried to
make him feel free to ask me any questions regarding the accounting aspects of the job that he
has, explaining that, while I might not have the
answer on the tip of my tongue, I most certainly
would find an answer and get back to him with it.
At present, he is drawing up an updated plant
layout specification chart showing the locations of
each of the cost centers within the physical plant
as well as their square footage usage of area,
which will be used as a basis of certain overhead
cost allocations.
At this point, I feel that I have his confidence
and will have his commitment to the project.
Purchasing Agent: with Title but ...
Besides the control of labor costs (time motion
studies done by the industrial engineering department) and material costs with respect to usage,
yield, and waste (again, industrial engineering responsibility in conjunction with production control), there is another vital area of responsibility in
the control of costs in any cost system. The previous areas of cost control have dealt with controls
to be exercised once the manufacturing function is
in process. However, the control over costs of materials and services coming into the plant is also
most important and this falls under the auspices
of the purchasing agent.
Our firm has a man specifically designated as
the purchasing agent and he has been so designated for at least six or seven years. Prior to that
time, however, the purchasing function was performed on a departmental level with each depart-
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ment head being responsible for locating the best
buys and determining his own needs. Control in
this area was somewhat loose as it often is in a
decentralized authority setup.
When the purchasing function was centralized
under the new purchasing agent, it generally was
agreed that all purchasing would be done through
him. However, it was not made policy. Most of
the department heads who had been doing their
own purchasing for many years were still in authority and found it inconvenient to work through
the purchasing agent in many instances. Therefore, they passed on to him what they found convenient to them to have him purchase and purchased for themselves what they found more convenient to do so that way.
Granted, documentation usually, but not always, follows these transactions so that control
"after the fact" is usually intact. However, it is
control "before the fact " —in the planning and decision- making process —that is needed. This is one
of the areas of the change which is going to be the
most difficult to bring about. There is resistance
on the part of the department heads to submit to
the system and probably also to the man because
he was once subordinate to one of the department
heads, the shop superintendent. Moreover, there
is a lack of support from top management for enforcing the system, particularly on the part of the
president. He is very hesitant to do anything
which might hurt or tread on the egos of these
department heads.
Shop Superintendent: Expected to Retire
The physical plant is divided into two main
plant areas: (1) the "wood shop "; and (2 ) the
"paint shop," which is actually the finishing shop.
The wood shop is the major area of responsibility
and, though the two superintendents appear to be
on equal levels, its superintendent is really on a
higher plateau than the other.
The shop superintendent has been with the firm
nearly 50 years, and, in such time, he has been
involved with the family, even if mainly from an
employer - employee relationship, since the present
owners were young children. As the president put
it once, this man has practically helped raise
them. In the business for nearly as long as their
father had been, the superintendent had risen to a
place of prominence by the time they joined the
business as active participants, and he did a great
deal to train them in the business. The present top
management has not forgotten this history, and
they are hesitant to do anything that will, or
might, reflect negatively on this man, as long as
there are no gross errors or problems which would
possibly endanger the entire business.
Thus, regarding the purchasing situation mentioned previously, they are most reluctant to inaugurate any changes at this time which might upset
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or affect this superintendent. Their reasoning is
that we have existed as we are for a good number
of years with no major problems, and they sincerely doubt one would ensue in the very near
future. And in the very near future they anticipate
his applying for retirement. Basically, they have
no desire to upset the applecart.
Based on their assessment of his retirement possibility, I can, and do, agree with them. With a
time span of probably less than six months between now and then, there are other areas of the
system to which I could devote my energies and
attention. There is no need to upset the applecart
just for the sake of doing so. Indeed, to do so
would undoubtedly cause much more harm than
good, both on his account and on account of what
others might think or feel as a result of such action.
There is also the possibility that the needed
changes could be made without antagonizing key
people, but, for the next six months or so, I'm
willing to work around this issue as best I can. A
change agent always must be ready to make some
compromises which may aid in the ultimate implementation of the planned change, as long as the
goal itself is not compromised. Change in this sort
of a situation comes in the form of suggestion
rather than decree. Nonetheless, this is a critical
area of the change necessary for the cost system to
exist and, therefore, I will have to concentrate on
this aspect of the change. It is, however, fully dependent on the support of top management in this
situation. They do control the final outcome for it
is, after all, their company.
Plant Engineer: Will He Give Up Autonomy?
Another key person with whom I've held some
discussions regarding the cost system is the plant
engineer. He, too, has had purchasing authority
for a great deal of time and will be reluctant to
give it up. He functions nearly as autonomously as
does the superintendent, and top management has
a great deal of respect for his judgment and his
authority. Hence, this situation is similar to that
of the superintendent with two exceptions. One,
he is only 50 and hence is not about to retire.
Secondly, he does not enjoy the close family links
with top management as does the superintendent.
Given proper understanding of the necessity for
the change, top management will, I believe, support making the necessary changes while, at the
same time, solicit his support of the methods
change.
Up to this point, I have been exploring the key
areas where major pro or con forces exist with
respect to the proposed cost system installation.
There are several other key positions in the organization which are directly affected by the cost
system and could pose substantial problems if
they were against the system. However, they are
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in favor of the system and hence only add support
to those other key areas already covered. However, I will mention them briefly.
Others Who Support the System
First, there is the product finishing superintendent. His function is similar to the manufacturing
superintendent except that his dominion is of a
lesser scale. He has already accepted the purchasing function system and submits his purchase requests through the purchasing agent. While still
maintaining his authority, he is an easy man to
work with and he seems to be receptive to the
change that the cost system would create.
Then there is the materials manager, the successor to the systems man. He, as a manager, controls the purchasing function in that it falls under
his line of responsibility. He is cognizant of the
effects that a good cost system could have within
the plant and is, not only supportive of the
change, but anxious to see it come about. For the
most part, perhaps, he sees that a good cost system will require complete centralization of the
purchasing function, an area where his authority
has been undermined.
Another key figure in this analysis is the assistant manufacturing superintendent. He is designated to assume the position of manufacturing superintendent upon the latter's retirement. In contrast
to his present superior, he seems to be more in
favor of the system and the necessary modifications that go along with it, mainly the centralization of the purchasing function. Then, too, top
management will be more willing to exercise its
authority in his case than they are presently willing to do with the superintendent.
This is the stage at which I now find myself in
this change process. Basically, I've uncovered
enough dissatisfaction with the present system to
warrant the proposed change. Regarding the
change itself, I am trying to show people, mainly
by explanation, how an improved cost system
would benefit them rather than be a hindrance or
a nuisance to them. For instance, rather than
pointing out that there would be some additional
paperwork required in the new system and apologizing for this fact, I try to emphasize that the
new system would give the supervisors additional
controls over their operations which they do not
now have and that these controls would probably
lead to increased departmental efficiency and,
therefore, increased profitability for the company,
which would be reflected in year -end bonuses as
well as increased profit sharing benefits. So far,
reaction to this "vision" seems to be of a positive
nature even if only mildly so.
There have been management training programs instituted in the past which have left management (supervisor level) seemingly enthusiastic
to try the methods initially only to have the sup-

/ am trying to
show people
how an
improved cost
system would
benefit them
rather than be a
hindrance or a
nuisance.
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port of top management dwindle off. Thus, I find
most of the management people in a state of mind
which could be described as "once bitten, twice
shy." They understand what I am saying but they
want to wait and see what top management will
do regarding support of the system. Perhaps this
is why many people see the computer purchase as
such an important aspect of this change. If the
purchase were made, it would be an objective sign
of top management's commitment to the cost system. Then, when the present superintendent retires and his successor comes into authority, perhaps we can really get into phase two of the
change process— namely the change itself.
Refreezing will later take place when, after the
system has been effectively installed for a reasonable amount of time, people can evaluate the results of the system and see whether or not the
"vision" of the better way indeed becomes the better way in reality.
Epilogue —Three Years Later

vice president of manufacturing and assumed the
responsibility for all manufacturing operations
formerly handled by the president.
The assistant manufacturing superintendent
was promoted to manager of manufacturing directly under the new vice president. The former
manufacturing superintendent did retire and was
replaced by the chief quality control inspector.
The finishing superintendent left the company for
another job and was replaced by his former assistant.
Early in 1978, after we had assimilated all of
these organizational changes, we engaged some
outside assistance in the cost project implementation. To compound our problems, the data processing manager died in August 1978, leaving
another significant gap in the organization. After
reorganizing the EDP department, we once again
returned to work on the cost system. Currently,
we are in the final stages of the project, and we
anticipate completion of the project this Fall,
barring any unforeseen events.
0

In August 1976, we purchased the disk system.
A month later, the president died quite suddenly
and his brother assumed the CEO position. Later
in Fall 1976, the "systems man" was promoted to

' Kurt Lewin, "Group Dn:ision and Social Change," Readings in Social Psychology.
Holt, Reinhart & Winston, New York. N.Y.. 1958.
' A term related to marginal utility theory; it was coined by Campbell R. McConnell in Economics Principles. Problems and Policies McGraw -Hill Book Co.. New
York, N.Y., 1978.

SMALL BUSINESS: A QUESTION OF SURVIVAL
Continued from page IS
If an entrepreneur is starting a new business or
desires to buy a going concern, a business broker
may be of help. These brokers are similar to a real
estate broker. A borrower can use a broker to
screen and price businesses and gain information,
if nothing more.
Another approach for a small business in need
of help is to seek financial, technical and management assistance from the SBA. One program for
extending a loan is in the form of a guaranteed
loan, in which the SBA guarantees up to 90% of
the bank's loan. The agency makes over $3 billion
of these loans a year. Direct lending, amounting
to about $200 million annually, is another form of
aid. Here a small business loan for one reason or
another cannot or will not be handled by banks.
Therefore, the funds are advanced directly by the
SBA. A third way of extending a loan is immediate participation lending. This involves agreements by the SBA to participate in loans made by
private lenders in unspecified ratios.
In order to obtain a loan from the SBA (see
page 16), an applicant must prepare a current balance sheet and earnings statement as well as a
current personal financial statement of the owner
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or each holder of 20% or more of the business'
stock. Applicants also must list current market
value of all collateral to be offered and explain the
exact purposes for which the loan will be used.
The SBA can also make a prime contract with
another government agency for services, then
subcontract it on a sole source basis to a small
business. This program is referred to as the 8(a)
program, and it is intended primarily for racial
minorities.
A procurement assistance program is another
SBA effort that can help even the smallest manufacturer obtain government contracts. The SBA
has added a computer file called PASS (for Procurement Automated Service System) that enables
any government agency to pick registered small
companies for contract awards. In the immediate
future, PASS will allow major prime contractors
to locate small, specialized subcontractors.
It is obvious that small businesses have fewer
resources than the corporate giants in weathering
the shock of inflation and regulatory costs. Fortunately, there is a concerted movement at work to
bring the problems of small business to the attention of the public —especially the Congress.
Whether these efforts reduce the burden of taxes
and regulations remains to be seen.
O
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Simulating a Cash Budget for a
Small Manufacturer
Financial simulation can be employed to study the behavior of a
cash budget and how it is affected if some of the input variables are
modified or subjected to random variation.

by Samba Murty Gullapalli
Cash budgeting or planning short -term financial
requirements of a firm is a major responsibility of
financial management. A growing business that is
operating very profitably according to the income
statement in reality may be starving for cash and
in danger of technical insolvency. On the other
hand, a firm may have a large cash surplus and
still be operating in loss. Hence it is essential for a
firm to estimate future cash outflows and inflows
with reasonable accuracy.
The most widely used approach, at present, is
the receipts and disbursements method. This
method assumes that a company can * come up
with a single estimate of its cash inflows from
sales as well as its outflows for labor, materials,
and other payments and then determine the most
likely change in a company's future cash position.
The practical difficulties in preparation of the cash
budget are the unreliability and unpredictability
of sales forecasts, future material prices and wage
rate increases.
The Advantages of Financial Simulation
A quantitative approach to cash budgeting can
be used to overcome some of the unpredictability
of the forecasts. The potential offered by computers has led to the creation of complex information
systems and to an increase in the use of matheMANAGEMENTACCOUNTING/NOVEMBER
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matical and statistical techniques in the field of
finance. Some of the techniques used are univariate and multivariate analysis, linear programming, and simulation, for areas like forecasting,
inventory models, cash management, to name a
few.
Simulation is the technique of selecting numbers randomly from one or more probability distributions for use in a particular trial or study.
Using conventional methods one has to assume
single values of figures with certainty, when in reality they are expected results subject to a margin
of error. Financial simulation, on the other hand,
allows one to incorporate both future uncertainty
and the many variable interrelationships in the
study. This permits consideration of multiple
goals although the goals are neither specified in an
objective function nor incorporated in an optimizing algorithm.
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Developing a Model
I have attempted to simulate the cash budget of
a small manufacturing company with two unrelated product groups. One is the sporting goods
manufacturing and assembling group involving
more than 20 styles with prices ranging from $5 to
$75 a unit. The second is machine products which
is a custom job order type business. This division
also manufactures a few parts for the sporting
goods manufacturing division. The sales patterns,
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Where TS, is the total sales for the month
t which is the sum of sales of SM (machine products) and RS (sporting goods products).
C„ C, ... is the collection rate of receivables
generated by credit sales after 1st, 2nd, and 3rd
... months after sales. PA and PW are material
and wage costs for the machine products. QA and
QW are material and wage costs for the sporting
goods products. FL and FE are the fixed costs of
labor and expenses for the month. NE, represents
nonrecurring expenses during time t which includes dividends, taxes, and vacation pay explained later in detail.
Data used and assumptions made in simulating
a cash budget for 1980 are as follows.
INFLOW DATA

From the sales records of 1978 and 1979, the
average sales for each month based on observed
values pertaining to machine products and sporting goods products is obtained separately. The average monthly sales figure is expected to reflect
the seasonality, if it exists, for each product group.
The standard deviation of the sales pertaining to
each product is computed on the basis of data for
these two years. The average sales by month, their
mean and standard deviation for machine products and sporting goods are given in Table 1.
In the cash budget, if SM, and RS, denote the
sales of machine products and sporting goods respectively for the month t, then the total sales
(TS) is given by:
TS, = SM, -+- RS,
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OUTFLOW DATA

Direct materials used have been treated as a
function of sales: Machine products — It is estimated that the cost of direct materials (PA) for
the time period t, is on an average 34% of sales
(SM). The payment for the purchases are made in
the month of sales which means that cash outflows for direct materials are PA X SM, for SM,.
Sporting goods — Similarly, cost of direct materials (QA) are 54.49% of sales and payments are
made in the month succeeding the month of sales
(although a small percentage of payments are
made during the month). Cash outflows for direct
materials in the period are QA X RS, —1 for sales
RS,.
Direct wages are also treated as function of
Table 1
TOTAL SALES DOLLARS —TS
Machine
products —SM

Sporting goods
products —RS

January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

$110,514
92,374
119,440
103,618
77,778
116,535
95,855
131,436
91,122
118,430
131,543
83,518

$393,450
362,629
387,963
288,327
312,090
206.754
204,000
251,088
245,266
389,201
355,698
376.135

Mean (SM,RS)

$106,013

$314.384

24,188

84.741

Month T

Standard
deviation (SM,RS)

$

Equation 1:
Y, = (TS, —1 X C, + TS, — 2 X C,
+ TS , -3
X C , + T S , - 4 XC a)
— (PA X SM,+ PW X SM,)
— (QA X RS,-1 + QW X RS)
— (FL + FE) — NE,.

Since there is no significant buildup of inventory and delivery periods are relatively short, it is
assumed that the products are produced in the
month they are sold. From the data for 1978 and
1979 cash sales are found to be a fraction of 1 %.
As such all sales are treated as credit sales.
It is estimated that receivables generated by
credit sales for machine and sporting goods are
noted in Table 2. There was some difficulty in getting accurate data in this respect; however, a
month -by -month estimate was made to obtain the
averages pertaining to collection policy and the
associated standard deviation based on 12 -month
data.

$

With more time
and better data,
the standard
deviations of
the sales for
each month
can be
evaluated.

seasonality, and trend of the two types of businesses are not related. The sales and administrative managements and fixed expenses are common
to both a considerable extent. The company has
been experiencing cash deficits since the middle of
1976 and uses a bank credit facility (present limit
is $1 million). The company has started using a
computer service for its accounting and information systems recently. The lack of computer support limited management in collecting adequate
data for the past periods.
First a model is designed to capture the relevant
features of a real situation thus revealing and establishing the functional relationships among the
variables involved. Cash balance Y at time t (Y) is
net of cash inflows and cash outflows represented
by the following model:

sales. They are incurred during the month of sales
and they are estimated to be 8.71% (PW) for machine products and 5.28% (QW) for sporting
goods, therefore, PW X SM, and Q W X RS, for
sales SM, and RS, respectively.
Recurring fixed expenses are based on data for
1979. Fixed labor — (FL) = $83,125 per month.
Fixed expenses —(FE) = $129,600 per month.
Nonrecurring expenses during the year 1979
were as shown in Table 3.
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Std.
deviation

.58
13
.07
.22

.0574
.0286
.0366
.0319

That is, for example, the sales for January of
machine products SM, fluctuates according to the
normal distribution around the mean $110,514
with a standard deviation of $24,188. Similarly
the sales for January of sporting goods RS, fluctuates according to the normal distribution around
the mean $393,450 with a standard deviation of
$84,741. Thus, for a fixed t, SM, and RS, are computer generated normal random variates with the
associated means and standard deviations listed in
Table 1. Since SM, and RS, are random, therefore,
TS, = (SM, + RS) is also random.
The collection policies are also assumed to be
normally distributed random variables. For example, the rate of collecting Cl proportion of sales
for the month is a normal random variable with a
mean of 0.58 and a standard deviation of 0.0574,
and a similar interpretation holds good for C2,
and C3. The value of C4 is obtained from the relationship that C4 = 1 — Cl— C2— C3. In this
case, bad debts have been ignored for the sake of
simplicity.
For each of the 12 months, the values of Y, are
simulated. This process is carried out for 100
times. Thus, for each month 100 values are simulated. The average of these 100 simulated values
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Simulation Results for 1980
Sale prices are raised in January by 5% for
sporting goods and machine products. Machine
sales (SM) are expected to go up by about 10 %—
thus dollar sales will be up by 15% (fraction of
1% ignored) compared to 1979. Sales of sporting
goods is expected to go down by 5 %.
Table 3
NONRECURRING EXPENSES
Month
April
July
August
October

Item
Vacation pay' (VP)
Dividends (DS)
Taxes (T)
Audit fees (AF)
Property taxes (PT)
Audit fees (AF)
Pension insurance (PI)
Taxes (T)

Amount
=

1
2
3

Mean

=

Month

Simulation also
can assist
management in
choosing
alternate
courses of
action.

$47,671
$55,000
3,000
$10.000
$24,000
$10,000
$24,000
$

Table 2
COLLECTION RATE

=

Simulation of the cash budget in this context is
equivalent to simulating the value of Y, for any
time period t. In simulating Y,, normal random
variables are employed. It is assumed that the
sales SM, of machine products and the sales RS, of
sporting goods for each time period t are subjected
to variations, and this variation is governed by
normal distribution.

=

Simulation of Cash Budget

=

and similar interpretation holds good for other
terms such as IJULY, IAUGUST, and IOCTOBER.

=

IAP R IL = 1 if t = April
= 0 if t
April

Equation 1 describes how the cash balance Y, is
computed. In simulation, it is assumed that the
sales and the collection policy are random with
certain means and standard deviations. To test the
validity of this assumption, or to see if this assumption adequately summarizes the vagaries in
sales and collection policy, one must assess the
credibility of the simulated values of the cash balance. Since the simulated value also is normally
distributed, the adequacy of the model is tested by
checking if the observed value is within one or
two standard deviations of the simulated value. It
can be observed from Table 4 that for each
month, the observed (actual) value cash balance
falls within one standard deviation of the simulated value. In this sense, the model seems to be adequately describing the actual behavior of the observed cash balances.
In actual practice, with more time and better
data, the standard deviations of the sales for each
month can be evaluated. Using these standard deviations one can simulate each monthly sales more
precisely. Once a certain degree of validity of the
model has been established the cash balances for
1980 are simulated incorporating the following
expected changes.

=

Where

Validity of the Model for Y,

9,000
$

(NE ) = IAPRIL X (VP + DS) + IJULY X
(T +AF ) + ]AUGUST X (PT + AF) +
IOCTOBER X (T + PI).

of Y„ for a fixed t, and the associated standard
deviation are presented in Table 4.

=

The nonrecurring expenses for any month t can
be expressed as:

Paid for all shop employees in one lot once a year.

Direct material costs (PA and QA) are expected to go up by 3% for both machine and sporting
goods on an overall basis.
Direct wage costs (PW and QW) will go up by
6% for both machine and sporting goods. This is
based on the wage rate increases given to employees in 1979.
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Simulated
cash bal.

Standard
deviation

S(352,160)
(407,003)
(141,888)
(353,771)
(480,238)
(447,920)
(597,892)
(722,942)
(693,346)
772,576)
(658,296)
(681,509)

S(301,254)
(291,345)
(305,893)
(401,034)
(384,866)
(417,580)
(434,045)
(532,737)
(566,782)
684,118)
(751,629)
(761,085)

$175,599
192,895
193,648
200,028
204,027
203,118
204,655
209,754
212,876
221,015
224,190
226,239

(

January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

Observed
cash bal.

(

Month

Includes notes payables under bank credit tacility.

Fixed labor (FE) is also expected to increase by
about $5,000 (on the 6% basis), but due to reorganization and not filling up positions vacated by
retirees, it is expected to be reduced by about
$25,000 per month, thus the net reduction will be
of the order of $20,000 per month.
All other variables will remain unchanged. Incorporating these changes in Equation 1 for Y, the
cash balances are simulated as in the previous
case. Table 5 reflects the behavior of cash balances
in this case.
These simulations show that the company will
keep experiencing larger cash deficits and by October 1980 the deficit will be in the range of
- 807,323 + 204,064 = 603,259 and - 807,323
- 2 0 4 , 0 6 4 = - 1,011,387. There is a possibility
that the company may exceed the present bank
credit limit of $1 million. This is a warning signal
that the company will have to find other sources
of credit by October 1980 or consider going in for
a long -term loan or additional equity capital.
If the company wants to know when it will exceed the present credit limit by having the probability for such occurrence to be no larger than one
in 1,000, it will be more than 3.3 standard deviations from the mean for the month, in which case
the cause for alarm will be around April/May itself when the range will be of the order of.
- 511,650 + (3 X 189,169) = 55,857 - 511,650
- ( 3 X 189,169) = - 1,079,157 in April
- 493,451 + (3 X 197,764) = 99,841 - 493,451
- ( 3 X 197,764) = - 1,086,743 in May.
Evaluation of Alternative Proposals
Meanwhile, none of the largest customers of
sporting goods on the East Coast, whose sales account for 10% of total volume, has come up with
an offer to double his orders for the year if the
company extends his credit from present period
Cl to C4. He has also the option of buying from
our competitors. The company was negotiating an
28

agreement in which it will allow him the extended
credit facility for the additional volume only. The
simulated cash balances under the two alternatives are run and given below.
ALTERNATIVE 1. Giving the customer extended
credit for an additional 10% of volume only, other parameters remaining unchanged, the simulated cash balances will be given in Table 6.
ALTERNATIVE 2. If the customer does not agree
to the company's request, and the company decides to allow him extended credit from period Cl
to C4 for his total volume, for example about
20 %, the simulated cash balances will appear as
in Table 7.
From these illustrations it can be seen that either of the proposals improve the company's cash
position although alternative 1 will be more prefTables 5, 6 and 7
BALANCES AND DEVIATIONS
Month
1978
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

Month
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

Mo nth
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December

Simulated
cash bal.

Standard
deviation

$(360,589)
(367,322)
(401,072)
(511,650)
(493,451)
(531,376)
(535,778)
(640,600)
(674,914)
(807,323)
(892,887)
(900,618)

$164,836
184,575
186,102
189,169
197,764
197,316
197,184
194,415
196,833
204,064
208,781
212,343

Simulated
cash bal.

Standard
deviation

$(358,074)
(341,758)
(367,037)
(463,152)
(425,378)
(443,414)
(424,023)
(514,317)
(534,217)
(660,718)
(759,852)
(784,192)

$174,961
193,365
195,190
200,988
208,022
215,086
219,383
225,749
226,188
229,594
226,606
233,700

Simulated
cash bal.

Standard
deviation

S(480,681)
(465,267)
(471,950)
(595,220)
(545,610)
(556,492)
(495,452)
(567,093)
(601,199)
731,164)
(864,980)
(890,589)

$177,035
212.757
209,146
217,190
209,783
210,799
218,037
218,376
218,313
218,703
213,765
211,109

(

Table 4
AVERAGE BALANCES AND DEVIATIONS
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erable. Even with alternative 2, the company will
have to find other sources ofcredit beyond $1 million by November 1980, or consider alternatives
discussed under Simulation Results for 1980.
Variations in the Model
There were certain limitations in this project.
Collection policies were roughly estimated. The
appropriateness of the use of a normal distribution
for generating the simulation data could be questioned. To select an appropriate distribution, one
needs to have more sales history information. In
practice, further collection and in -depth analysis
ofpast history could improve the variables in the
model, thus improving the simulated results.
Several changes can be made in this study:
1. Sporting goods sales can be further broken
down by product groups or styles.
2. Further variations in collection policies could
be considered if they would stimulate sales.
3. Payables rate variables can be randomized by
collecting past history ofactual disbursements
for material purchases.
4. Alternative time payments to take advantage of
cash discounts could be considered.

5. Direct materials and wages have been computed on an overall basis, and they are influenced
by sales mix within sporting goods. These variables also could be randomized by collecting
monthly past histories.
6. A part ofthe fixed wages is not really fixed. It
is influenced by seasonality, as layoffs occur in
slack seasons and certain items of expenses
may vary. The semi -fixed part can be randomized by collecting past history.
7. Any other changes in company policies could
be incorporated in the model.
Subject to reasonable cost of collection, by increasing and randomizing more variables, additional data could be simulated to aid management
in making decisions.
Despite the stated limitations, the validity of
the model was established. Simulation can be employed to study how a cash budget is affected if
some of the input variables in the model are modified or subjected to random variation. Also, one
can simulate Y, utilizing other meaningful models.
Thus, the results obtainable by these simulation
studies can be used effectively to aid management
in choosing alternate courses ofaction.
❑

Charles R. Israel, 1898 -1979
Charles R. Israel, NAA president, 1955 -56, died
on July 19 at the age of 81.
Mr. Israel had the distinction of being the first
and only "flying NAA president." He flew his
own Cessna during his term of office and, as he
reported in summing -up his year, visited 50 chapters "from Boston to San Diego, from Seattle to
Miami and from New Orleans to Minneapolis."
This unique contribution to NAA was referred
to in a dedication included in Mr. Israel's presidential scrapbook. Arthur B. Gunnarson, who
was secretary of the Association then, wrote:
"Thanks to your Cessna, the commercial airlines
(which sometimes ran on schedule and sometimes
got grounded in Mexico), and other means of
transportation, both ancient and modern, you
covered a lot ofmiles in your busy year as National President of N.A.C.A. Thousands of members
of the Association whom you met along the way
got inspiration from your leadership and joy from
your genial personality."
Born in Greensburg, Ind., Mr. Israel was educated in state schools and practiced public accounting there with Seidman and Seidman after
he received his CPA certificate. He joined Aero
Mayflower Transit Co. of Indianapolis in 1933
and eventually was promoted to treasurer and
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business manager of that company.
He joined the National Association ofCost Accountants in 1936 and was elected president of the
Indianapolis Chapter, 1940 -41. Subsequently, he
was elected to the Board of Directors and as a
national vice president, 1949 -50.
He also was a member of the Indiana Assn. of
CPAs, served as president ofthe Indianapolis control of the Controllers Institute of America, and
was president ofthe National Accounting and Finance Council of the American Trucking Associations, Inc.
Even after his retirement, Mr. Israel continued
to demonstrate his interest in the progress of the
Association which he had led so well. He attended
annual conferences and communicated with officers and directors, as well as the staff of the Association. An Emeritus Life Associate and member
of The Stuart Cameron McLeod Society, he made
his home in Boca Raton, Fla. He is survived by
his son, John.
Mr. Israel's dedication and work on behalf of
the Association contributed to its growth and vitality. His passing again serves to emphasize the
debt the present Association owes to the outstanding individuals who guided it during the first half
century.
❑
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Analyzing Initial and Growth
Financing for Small Businesses
Undercapitalization and a negative cash flow are two compelling
problems that a small business must avoid in the early years of its
operation.

A recent study
30

of

Financial Structures and
Problems of Small Firms
small manufacturers revealed

of

of

up

that only two sources of financing were predominant in the financial structures of small firms'.
This was true for both initial and growth financing. The two major sources offinancing were equity and commercial banks. Small Business Administration (SBA) and other debt financing were
present to a much lesser degree. Major sources of
risk capital financing (venture capitalists, investment companies, and small business investment
companies) were practically nonexistent (less than
1% of total financing) in financial structures of
the small manufacturer. Industrial aid bond financing provided a scant 1.5% oftotal initial and
growth capital. The results of the survey are
shown in Table 1.
Financing is one of the first problems encountered in starting a small business. In fact, a traditional complaint of the small businessperson is the
financing problem. Undercapitalization (overtrading) and lack of adequate operating capital are
typical. Every new firm, after organization of necessary productive resources, begins operations
with what should be the worst cash flow circumstances of its existence —that is, heavy expenses
and little or no income for a period
to three
years. The situation is even worse for the small
business, which may experience negative cash
flows during the initial period operations. Compounding the financing problem
small firms is
the fact that many such firms are privately or family -owned and operated. An owner - operator of a
of

of

Where a multiplicity of objectives exist concerning financial sources and financial mixes for small
businesses, a firm cannot readily rank each source
of financing by using conventional evaluation
methods. The problem arises because the owner small businesses must select a few
managers
financing from among a wide range of
sources
sources with varying characteristics such as cost,
availability, collateral, and maturity. The standard financial decision models in the cost of capital area are used to establish either a cut -off point
or a required rate of return. However, such models do not consider all possible financial sources or
the preferences of the decision maker. To resolve
the cost -of- capital problem and the basic conflicts
of preferences, a goal programming approach can
be used.
Under this method, one finds the financial mix
for small firms that minimizes the cost of capital
the firm according to the stated preferences of
the businessman, Since the 1960's, many institutions have adopted mathematical programming
models which are used to maximize profits or
minimize costs according to the goals specified by
the decision maker.
of
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firm is involved in several key areas of management, such as sales, production, and finance. As a
result, financial management is often neglected because the owner - operator possesses neither the capabilities nor the time to administer properly the
financial policies and procedures that are essential
to a small business. Objective thinking and analysis are difficult when many other pressing duties
must be done. The degree and nature of financing
problems are shown in Table 2. Here 53% of respondents reported moderate to considerable financing problems at inception of business, while
48% had such problems in growth financing. The
areas of greatest need are shown in the second
part of Table 2.
A prerequisite to avoiding small business problems is adequate initial financing. Although a
businessperson frequently has a tendency to obtain capital from those sources most familiar to
him or her, financing may be available from other
sources which provide funds at a lower cost. The
entrepreneur needs to measure actual or anticipated cost of financing against the possible minimum
costs based on the various sources of funds and
resultant financial mixes, debt payment capacity
and debt ratio, and his respective priorities and
preferences. Survey findings and interviews with
entrepreneurs and officials of private and public
sector financing sources show that the small manufacturer tends to solve problems intuitively. A
proposed solution to the financing problems
facing small manufacturers is the use of a
mathematical programming technique which has
a multiplicity of objectives. Only a model with a
multi - dimensional objective function can be representative of decision making and judgment in
multiple goal behavior of men and organizations.

priority ranking is used which specifies a hierarchy of goals, that is, the GP model seeks first to
obtain the highest level of the most important goal
before secondary goals are considered. The goals
are ranked by assigning each a weight in the objective function. In GP the constraints of the LP
problem take on special significance. Thus, the
slack variables represent deviations (such as, penalties for over -or under- achievement) from the
multiple goals and determine the quantitative value of the objective function in accordance with the
priority structure.
Table 1
COST OF CAPITAL FOR SMALL FIRMS
All r e s pon de nts
Percent of
capital structure

Source

044
.229
.022
.008
.045
.652

SBA
Local banks
City banks
Industrial aid bonds
"Other" debt
Equity

After -tax
co st

Cost of
capital

.046
.060
.057
.042
.084
.150

.002112
.013740
.001254
.000336
.003780
.097800

1.000

Total

.119022

Debt /equity = 35/65
Respondents who began business in latest period (1970 -1974)
Percent of
capital structure

Source

.09
.33
.03
.01
.06
.48

SBA
Local banks
City banks
Industrial aid bonds
"Other" debt
Equity

After -tax
co st

Cost of
capital

.048
.060
.057
.042
.084
.150

.0043
.0198
.0017
.0004
.0050
.0720
.1032

1.00

Total
Debt /equity = 52/48
Tax rate = 40%

Goal Programming Approach
Instead of a unidimensional objective function
such as the single goal inherent in linear programming (LP), a model has been developed that recognizes the existence of multiple goals. This model, introduced by Charnes and Cooper', is known
as goal programming (GP).
As is typical with other mathematical programming models, the GP model seeks to optimize
subject to constraints. Unlike LP models, however, the GP model has a multi - dimensional objective function that attempts to minimize deviations
from goals. The formulation of the objective func-

Table 2
FINANCING PROBLEMS OF SMALL FIRMS
Scope of financing problem s
Initial f inancing
Problems are:

No. respondents

None
Slight
Moderate
Substantial
Overwhelming
Total

Gro wth fina ncing
%

No. respondents

%

51
27
44
35
8

31
16
26
22
5

62
14
42
24
4

42
10
29
16
3

165

100

146

100

No. respondents

%

22
18
11
7
4
_2

35
28
17
11
6
_3

64

100

Area of greatest financial need

tion is:
n

Minimize Z = Z (d i + d )
i—

where n = number of goals in the model,
d = deviations below specified goals, and
d; = deviations above specified goals.
The GP technique is effective even when multiple goals sought are in conflict with each other. A
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Area of Need
Working capital
Expansion capital
Equipment
Long-term financing
Inventory financing
Update facilities
Total
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Application of GP to the
Financial Mix of Small Firms
Consider the scope of the financing problem
which the owner - managers of small firms need to
resolve to be successful. Potentially, capital is
available from a large number of sources, some of
which are mutually exclusive. In reality, capital
sources may be restricted somewhat due to a number of reasons such as the debt capacity of the
firm, market factors, and business conditions. In
addition, the individual goals or preferences of the
owner- manager should be stated and included as a
part of the problem. Thus, the decision maker is
seeking a financial structure which minimizes the
Table 3
COST AND ANNUALIZED DEBT PAYMENT VARIABLES

Source

Before -tax
co st

After -tax
co st

X,
X2
X3
X4
XS
X8
X,
X8
X9

6% %
6%
91/ 4
10
9 1/ 2
7
14
15
15

.04
.04
.056
.06
.057
.042
.084
.15
.15

Reciprocals of
present value of
annuity coef ficients

—

—

.133
13 3
.149
.205
.202
.094
.291

Table 4
MAJOR PARAMETERS OF THE MODEL
Allow able debt
to equity ratios

Debt source
Industrial aid bonds
SBA
Commercial banks
Finance companies

Minimum
cut -off point

40/60
50/50
60/40
75/25

10.7%
9.5%
9.4%
10.1%

Maximum
term of loan
20 years
10 years
7 years
5 years

Table 5
PRIORITY RANKING IN OBJECTIVE FUNCTION

cost of capital and does so within the constraints
of his stated preferences or goals. This can be accomplished through use of a mathematical programming technique known as goal programming.
Assume that the following goals have been established by the owner - manager of the firm: (1)
The capital raised by the firm must achieve or
exceed the financing goal. (2) The firm's financial
structure should make optimum use of long -term
debt funds. (3) The firm should use the easiest -toget debt funds. That is, limit the use of debt capital which requires collateral as well as red tape.
(4) The annual debt payment should be kept as
low as possible. (5) The cost of capital should be
as near 9.5% as possible. These goals are determined to be equally important. It is not necessary
that each goal be attainable, but it must represent
something that the decision maker deems desirable. The goal programming technique is used to
select the most satisfying, if not the optimal, solution.
The proposed GP formulation utilizes five goals
with rotation of priorities. This is of significant
importance to the small manufacturer in evaluating the selection and method of financing a new
and expanding firm. The model contains 13 economic constraints on the objective function. These
constraints ranked by priorities in the objective
function are shown in Table 5 according to deviation, row number, priority ranking, and the
weight given within each priority. To formulate
the model, the following variables are defined:
A = Total capital needs,
B = Annual debt payment,
X, = SBA direct financing,
X, = SBA participating financing,
X, = SBA guaranteed financing,
X4 = Local bank financing,
X, = Large city bank financing,
X6 = Industrial aid bond financing,
X7 = Finance company financing,
X8 = Internal equity financing, and,
X9 = External equity financing.

Prio rity rankings
Deviation

Row

(GP-1)

(GP -3)

(GP -4)

(GP-5)

Weight

1
5
4
3
2
1
5
3
3
2
1
4
2
1
5
3
3
4
5
2
1
4
3
2
2
5
4
3
2
1
2
1
5
4
3
3
2
5
4
3
1
4
2
1
5
4
3
1
5
2
1
4
3
4
- -- - -- - -- - - -- - -- - -- - - -- - -- - -- - 3
2
1
5
2
4
3
2
1
5
4
1
- - - - - - -3 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 4
2
1
5
1
- - - - - - - -13- - - - -5- - - - - -4 - - - - - -3 - - - - - 2
- - - - - - 1- - - - - - 1-

Cost and annualized debt payment variables are
shown in Table 3. Some major parameters of the
model are included in Table 4. Now that once the
goals, variables, constraints, priority rankings,
and deviations have been defined, a goal programming model can be formulated.
Analysis of the Model

+

+

-

+

+

-

+

-

-

}

1
2
3
4
5
6
F
7
9
11
-- - -- - -- - -- 8
10
- - - - - - - -12- - - -

(GP -2)
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Five goal programming runs, each employing a
variation in the priority structure of goals, were
required to provide a complete rotation of priorities. This is sufficient since the model employs five
goals and the primary goal is satisfied first.. Secondary goals are then considered in order and satMANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING /NOVEMBER 1979

isfied if possible. Then the priorities were rotated
according to the matrix in Table 5. The runs are
labeled GP -1 through GP -5. The results in Table
6 show dramatically how powerful goal programming is in a realistic decision - making situation.
An analysis of the data in Table 6 shows the
advantages (and disadvantages) of the results obtained by each priority ranking. For example, two
runs minimize the cost of capital, one run minimizes the annual debt payment and the debt ratio,
and one minimizes the financing effort. However,
the obvious disadvantages are the use ofcollateral
and red tape financing to minimize the cost of
capital, the greater use of high cost equity financing to minimize the annual debt payment, and the
use of short- maturity financing to minimize the
financing effort.
The model gives the following general results
for financing needs of $500,000. The annual debt
payment ranges from $25,000 to $43,675. After tax cost of financing ranges from $48,137.50 to
$57,850, And the cost of capital ranges from
9.63% to 10.18 %. Two source variables (X, and
X,) were not used by any of the priority systems.

These were not included because of their somewhat higher cost and because $500,000 financing
does not exceed the maximum amounts of the
lower cost debt financing available.
The GP -1 model has the achievement or overachievement of the financing goal as the number
one priority as for example, A Z $500,000. The
results of this model are exactly the same as GP -5.
An additional computation was made with
A < $600,000. This time the results were identical with GP -2. Because the results of this goal
appear to parallel other goals, GP -1 results are
not analyzed here.
The GP -2 model has as its first priority the optimum use of long -term debt funds. Industrial aid
bond financing, which was given a weight of one
and which has the longest maturity, is conspicuously absent. This omission can be explained in
Table 4. There we see that industrial aid bonds
require a substantial amount of high -cost equity
financing. Thus, the weighted average cost of capital of the industrial bond - equity financing results
in the highest cost combination in the model. As
might be expected, GP -2 used the maximum

Two major
sources of
financing for
small
manufacturers
were equity
and
commercial
banks.

Table 6
MODEL RESULTS WITH ROTATION OF PRIORITIES
Annual debt
payment

After -tax
co st

$100,000
112,500
37,500
250,000

$13,300
14,962.5
5,962.5

4,000
4,500
2,137.5
37,500

$500,000

$34,225

$48,137.5

$100,000
150,000
50,000
300,000

$13,300
19,950
7,950

$ 4,000
6,000
2,850
45,000

$600,000

$41,200

$57,850

$100,000
25,000
125,000
250,000

$13,300
5,125
25,250

4,000
1,500
7,125
37,500

$500,000

$43,675

$50,125

$100,000
4,899
1,633
114,774
172,162
106,532

$13,300
651.6
259.6
10,788.8

$ 4,000
196
93
4,821
25,824
15,980

$500,000

$25,000

$100,000
112,500
37,500
250,000

$13,300
14,962.5
5,962.5

$500,000

$34,225

Source

Amo unt

X,
X2
XS
X9

Debt ratio and
cost of capital

50%

-

$

GP -1:

9.63%

GP -2:

50%

-

X,
X2
XS
XQ

9.64 °<>

50%

-

X
X4
X5
X9

$

GP -3:

10.03%

44%

-

X,
XZ
X5
XB
XB
XB

-

GP -4:

$50,914

10.18%

4,000
4,500
2,137.5
37,500

50%

-

X
X2
X5
X9

$

GP -5:
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$48,137.5

9.63%
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GP -4 uses the most long -term debt financing and
produces the lowest debt ratio. Third, all models
reduce the cost of capital over those observed in
the study. Both GP -I and 5 minimize the cost of
capital with GP -2 a close second.
Finally, the achievement
the financing goal
(GP -1) has no significant effect on the outcome
that is unique from other priority rankings, Although the other goals do yield different results,
this goal does not act as a constraint on the financial mix at the $500,000 level.
Goal Programming —a Useful Tool
for Small Businesses?

of

of

of

of

of

One of the gravest problems confronting a
small business is a lack cash flow (even a negative one) in the early years of its operation. This
problem is compounded by undercapitalization at
the start. Few new businesses plan for adequate
working capital in the formative stages. Quite often it is hoped that profits will alleviate this condition. However, unless the small business can get
through the first few years when it usually experiences adverse cash flows, it is doomed to failure.
Some unique characteristics of sources of funds
are reviewed. Goal programming is found to be a
useful decision tool for allocating sources capital for the small manufacturer. The rotation
priorities provides the small businessperson with
insight into the influence ofhis preferences on the
outcomes of various financial mixes.
The model is flexible; for example, A is variable
according to total capital needs, and B is variable
according to annual debt payment limit
the
firm. No explicit leverage ratio is imposed upon
the firm by the model. The leverage ratio will vary
according to exact figures used in the model and
the preference businesspersons. The model also
can be varied to accommodate a specific individual experience or preference for financing if different from the priorities specified in the objective
function.
Although no rational decision maker would ignore the optimal solution, his risk preferences
may differ from those used in the model. Since
preferences do differ, he must be aware of the various outcomes before selecting a course of action,
The solution resolves conflicting goals and minimizes cost based upon reasonable approximations
current market conditions.
By applying goal programming to the financial
structure small firms, a more realistic approach
to decision making and selecting a financial mix is
realized. The objective is to encourage the decision maker to think in terms of actual, tested priorities and not in terms of vague, untested priorities. Thus, such problems as undercapitalization
and inadequate cash flows are addressed by the
GP model.
Continued on page 38
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If a small
business can't
get through the
first few years
of adverse cash
flows, it is
doomed to
failure.

of

of

of

of

of

of

if

amount ($250,000) of SBA direct and participating financing. This suggests that businesspersons
should finance more with SBA funds long -term
debt financing is one
their primary goals, In
addition, the cost
capital under GP -2 is within
one basis point
the optimum solution in GP -5.
GP -3's first priority is the use
easiest -to -get
debt funds. The computations resulted in 30%
financing from commercial banks. Table 4 indicates that bank and equity financing results in the
lowest cost of capital. For this reason, as well as
the ease of securing bank financing, this is a major
source of debt financing for small firms. However,
heavy reliance on bank financing results in a cost
of capital that is 40 basis points above the minimum cost solution. Another drawback in this type
financing is the shorter payback period and
consequently a higher annualized debt payment.
GP -4 has a low annual debt payment as its
highest priority. And this ranking produces a debt
payment significantly below any other system
priorities. This is accomplished through the use of
a large amount (23 %) of industrial aid bond financing. Such a trade -off results in a slightly higher cost of capital and somewhat more equity financing. However, GP -4 is the most conservative
financing scheme of all.
The GP -5 variation has as its top priority the
minimization of the cost of capital. GP -5 uses sigSBA financing. Thus, its renificant amounts
sults are very similar to GP -2. Consequently, the
decision maker may not prefer the minimization
of cost as his highest priority.
Some highlights from the rotation
priorities
are significant. First, and most notable, the model
provided $600,000 of financing when SBA sources
were the first priority. This would help, if not
eliminate, the undercapitalization problem
the
small firm. Another highlight is the minimum cost
solution which is only one basis point lower than
that which results from another priority ranking.
This appears quite significant to the decision maker who seeks to achieve the optimal solution. Industrial aid bond financing is only used when the
first priority is to keep the annualized debt payment low. This priority ranking requires very little
more equity funds, however, than the minimum
solution the cost of capital. It also results in the
most conservative financial structure. Finally, the
payoff of the GP -4 priority system is the lowest
fixed charges by far. This appears to be an ideal
solution to the cash flow problem of small firms.
When model results (Table 6) versus actual results (Table 1) are compared, three notable improvements are observed. First, the debt /equity
ratio is improved by the GP models. The most
improvement comes from the model with the lowest annual debt payment as top priority. Second,
more long -term debt financing is used by all the
GP models than actual results the study. Model
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Estimating Profit and Cash
Flow for a New Funeral Home
Most businesses fail because their owners underestimate their
working capital needs. That is why they need expert guidance.

By Bart P. Hartman and Joseph F. Cheleno
Our client had 12 years of funeral home experience but no capital funds. His experience included
embalming, directing, and managing a medium sized funeral home; now he wanted to start his
own business. The amount required to purchase
land, construct a building, and provide initial
working capital of $10,000 was approximately
$200,000. The Small Business Administration was
approached for a loan, which would be based on
the ability to employ people in an area that needed
a funeral home. The SBA requested five -year projections of revenues, expenses, and cash flows.
This was where we were called in to assist.
Funeral Home Pricing and Service Methods
Funeral homes use several pricing methods, including single -unit, bi -unit, and itemization. In
single -unit pricing, one figure is quoted for funeral
arrangements; the customer has no way of determining where his money goes. With bi -unit pricing, the funeral home divides the bill in two
parts — professional services and the coffin. Itemization is a pricing method in which each component of the funeral is listed separately. This latter
method is required in some states and has been
proposed by the Federal Trade Commission for
use on a national basis because it provides the
most information.
MANAGEMENTACCOUNTING/ NOVEMBER
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The single biggest factor in determining the cost
of a funeral is the coffin. The editors of Consumer
Reports —to cite one source — indicate that some
funeral directors set the price of the entire funeral
by multiplying the cost of the coffin by a fixed
figure.
Demand for Funeral Home Services
Although the total demand for funeral home
services depends upon the normal demand arising
from natural demographic causes, an individual
funeral home can create demand for its services.
This can be done by employing sound operating
procedures, providing good services at fair prices,
and by maintaining good public relations by
building a solid reputation in the community
where the firm is located.
To gain some idea of the total demand in our
client's locale, we obtained the following information from the Bureau of Vital Statistics.

1974
1975
1976
1977
Avg.

Death rate
Per 1,000
6.7%
5.4
6.7
6.8
6.4%

Total
deaths
204
173
220
226
206

Bart P. Hartman is
associate professor of
accounting at Louisiana
State University. He
holds a D.B.A. degree
from the University of
Kentucky. A Lybrand
Gold Medal winner in
1977, he is a member
of Baton Rouge
Chapter through which
this article was
submitted.

Est.pop.
30,500
32,000
32,900
33,500

The information indicates a slight increase in
the death rate in this parish (county) during the
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four -year period. The parish is split by the Mississippi River, with about 60% of the total population living on the West Bank. The West Bank will
be considered the new funeral home's service area.
The breakdown is as follows:

East Bank

West Bank

204
173
220
226
06

81
69
88
90
82

123
104
132
136
124

Total population:

36,000 X 60%
21,600
West Bank
138
Deaths per 1,000: 6.4% X 21,600
Expected no. of
funerals:
50% X 138
69
=

1974
1975
1976
1977
Avg.
g'

=

&

Joseph F. Cheleno is a
principal in the firm,
Pechon, Thorpe,
Robert Favaloro,
CPAs. A past president
of New Orleans
Chapter, he currently is
an NAA national
director.

Total
Deaths

and an initial working capital (cash) position of
$10,000.
For Table 1, we calculated the estimated sales
for 1979 by multiplying the number of funerals
(69) by the average sales price per funeral of
$1,600. We followed the same procedure for the
other years. We arrived at the estimated number
of funerals per year by using the statistics given
for the area. These are presented in notes a, b, c,
and d in Table 1. For example, in 1979:

=

Using these statistics, we estimated projections of
revenues, expenses, and cash flows.
The Financial Data

The unit sales price and cost per unit were taken from the actual averages of other funeral
homes that had been in operation for a number of
years. We further verified these figures from per centages used in these particular businesses and
then applied them in the compilation of figures for
these projections. Thus, we multiplied each unit
sales price and its costs times the estimated num-

Table 1 shows the five -year profit projection
and Table 3 shows the five -year cash flow projection. Table 2 portrays an itemization of expenses
for the years 1979 and 1980. The schedules assume land would be purchased for $90,000; the
estimated cost of the building to be $100,000 depreciated on a straight -line basis over 25 years,
Table 1
PROFIT PROJECTION OF FUNERAL HOME 1979 -1983

Notes:
a. Estimated population
b. Est. population West Bank
(60% of total population
c. Average deaths 6.4% per
1,000 persons
d. Estimated funerals per year
(5 0 % )

36

%

53,200
90,640

36.98
63.01

63,448
104,280

37.83
62.17

75,072
118,848

38.71
61.29

43,946
14,600
20,440

51,040
35.50
11.79
16,640
16.51 S 22,960

35.49
11.57
15.96

59,488
19,008
S 25,784

35.47
11.33
15.37

68,832
21,600
28,416

35.50
11.14
14.65

73

80

35.50
12.00
17.12

2,020

100.00

17.89

375

18.56

380

19.94

407

20.15

35.48

676

35.47

717

35.05

11.57
66.80
84.04
15.96

216
1,272
1,613
293

11.98
66.74
84.63
15.37

225
1,349
1,724
296

11.14
66.78
85.35
14.65

1,906

100.00

17.24

341

355

19.74

35.40

638

11.79
66.86
83.49
16.51

208
1,201
1,511
287

100.00

16.63

310

332

19.57

35.50

602

12.00
66.87
82.88
17.12

200
1,134
1,416
280

16.00

282

310

19.37

568
192
1,070
1,326
274

$

100.00

$

1,798

1,696

$

96

88
S

$

39,192
13,248
S 18,906

$

36.00
63.80

$

%

100.00

$

$193,920

44,822
78,986

256

%

100.00

35.38
64.62

$

%

$167,728

39,054
71,346

100.00

1983

100.00

$123,808

1,600

1982

100.00 $143,840

100.00

69

1981

$

%

1980

$110,400

$

Estimated comparative cost
per funeral
Number of funerals
Avg. net sales /funeral (6% inflationary increase)
Avg. net cost of caskets (10%
annual increase)
Avg. other direct expense (7%
annual increase)
Avg. operating expense (6°'4
annual increase)
Avg. administrative expense
(4% annual increase)
Total avg. expenses
Total avg. cost w /casket
Net avg. profit per funeral

1979

$

Projections based
on operations
Sales
Cost of sales (including owner's salary)
Gross margin on sales
Operating expenses (including
interest on debt)
Administrative expenses
Net profits on sales

36,000

38,000

42,000

46,000

50,000

21,600

22,800

25,200

27,600

30.000

138

146

161

176

192

69

73

80

88

96
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ber of funerals for each year and allowed for population increases and inflationary increases for future years.
The cost of sales in Table 1 includes the direct
costs and expenses including the casket, and other
funeral costs plus the owner's salary. Table 2 illustrates the direct cost computations for the years
1979 and 1980. The average cost of the caskets
showed a 10% per year increase based on figures
compiled from expenses of other funeral home operations. The other direct expenses we increased
by 7 % per year, which was also based on figures
from other funeral homes.
The operating expenses and administrative expenses we increased by 6% and 4% respectively
each year. These were also based on comparative
figures from other funeral homes. So as not to
detail too broad a statement, we grouped these
expenses to include all costs and expenses of operating a funeral home of this particular size. We
gave inflationary estimates every consideration in
our computations.
The net earnings of each period were then used
in the cash flow projections. The cash flow statements are shown in Table 3. It was evident from
the cash flow projections that the business would
generate sufficient working capital for future expansion and retirement of debt.
In the cash flow statements, the accounts receivable average turnover -taken from figures
gathered from other funeral homes -was six times
each year. Therefore, we computed the accounts
receivable by dividing the sales by six to arrive at
the balance at the end of each period. We estimated the accounts payable at an average of $10,000
to $14,000 each year, and then declining as the
working capital base increased. The long -term
debt reduction was based on a 20 -year loan at 9%
interest. We took the annual payment from an

amortization schedule, and included the interest
in the operating expenses.
Statements Are Crucial
The combined projected profit and cash flow
statements can be used by the client as a guide to
pricing each funeral. They can also be used as a
budget to rely on in meeting competition and amortization of the long -term debt, and for meeting
other obligations that may arise.
Table 2
SCHEDULE OF EXPENSES 1979 -1980
Direct cost:
Caskets
Salary embalmer (owner)
Other funeral costs (suppliers, press notices
and limousines)

1979

1980

$17,664
18,000

$20,586
20,000

3,390

4,236

Total
Operating expenses:
Salaries- others (part time)
Depreciation
Utilities
Insurance
Taxes
Advertising
General expense
Interest expense

$39,054

$44,822

4,000
6,657
5,775
2,465
1,010
827
18,438

4,200
4,000
7,057
6,122
2,635
1,110
984
17,838

Total
Administrative Expenses:
Accounting and legal
Office supplies and expense
Taxes - payroll, etc.
Auto expense -gas and oil
Leases, rentals'
Miscellaneous expenses

$39,192

$43,946

1,800

2,400

350
1,867
600
8,400
231

400
2,067
900
8,400
433

$13,248

$14,600

Total
Estimated:
Lease rental - automobile $200 (36 months)
Furniture and equipment $500 (60 months)

Table 3
CASH FLOW STATEMENT 1979 -1983
1979
Cash at beginning
Net profit
Plus depreciation (estimated)

1980

$10,000
$18,906
4,000

A/C receivable- beginning
A/C receivable ending (6 times a
year)
Inventory at beginning
Inventory at end -10%
A/C payable- beginning
A/C payable - ending

22,906

1981

$ 4,671
$20,440
4,000

24,440

18,400
18,400 (18,400)

20,633

11,040 (11,040)

11,040
12,381

10,000

10,000
12,000

Long -term debt reduction
(20 yrs. 9% $200,000)
Estimated income taxes (w /o interest
credits etc. 24% of net profit)
Cash at end of year (w orking capital)

10,000

1982

$18,431
$22,960
4,000

26,960

20,633
(2,233)

23,973

(1,341)

12,381
14,384

2,000

12,000
14,000

1983

$32,138
$25,784
4,000

29,784

23,973

$35,623
$28,416
4,000

32,416

27,995

(3,340)

27,955

(3,982)

32,320

(4,365)

(2,003)

14,384
16,773

(2,329)

16,773
19,392

(2,619)

2,000

14,000
5,000

(9,000)

5,000
2,000

(3,000)

(3,600)

(4,200)

(4,400)

(4,800)

(5,400)

(4,537 )

(4,906 )

(5,510 )

(6,188 )

(6,820 )

S 5,329

$18,431

$32,138

$35,623

$45,835

Figures are compiled from estimated profit projections and other estimated data
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This method of projection and estimate of profits could be used to compile figures for lower budgets. By using the available statistics and operational cost of a similar business, and scaled to the
smaller operation, similar statements could be
prepared for those businesses.
These statements can be very useful to the lending agency in making a decision. They also can be
a very useful tool in making a success of new business ventures. New businesses fail most often because the owner underestimated their needs for

working capital and, in many cases, lacked a clear
understanding of the financial needs of the business. Entrepreneurs can, however, overcome this
problem by simply seeking the advice of an outside expert.
Bear in mind that a financial institution is only
interested in a customer's ability to repay it with
interest. These statements should therefore show
it that the business can generate funds for repayment and still provide working capital for future
operations.
❑

ANALYZING INITIAL AND GROWTH FINANCING
FOR SMALL BUSINESSES
specified goals are the costliest to obtain and
which do not affect the outcome. Finally, it may
cause the owner- manager to reassess priorities and
goal.
In spite of the possible stochastic limitation, the
model is a significant step toward making cost of
capital practical and useful for the small manufacturer. Consequently, it should be readily exploitable by practitioners confronted with a financing
problem in a small firm.
❑

Continued from page 34
To demonstrate the effect of different preferences on the financial mix of the small firm, the
priofities are rotated in the objective function. In
a practical application of this technique, owner managers of small firms should be aware of all the
outcomes instead of making a decision based solely on a fixed set of priorities. The rotation of priorities in the GP model provides the decision maker
with the advantages of seeing and analyzing the
various outcomes. Such an approach may help the
owner - managers to understand which of their

'Ray G. J ones, Jr. and Dean Dudley. Essentials of Finance. Prentice-Hall, Inc.,
Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1978.
A. Charnes and W. Cooper, Managemenr Models and Industrial Applications of
Linea' Programming, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, N.Y., 1961.

CORRECTIONS
Corrections are noted below for the article in the August 1979 issue
titled, "Financial Leasing: What's the Best. Replacement Cycle ?"
1. Term 2 on page 45 should have read as:
Discrete form

Continuous form
N
=

-

r

N

E C(n)(I -+- i)
1

C(n)e-indn

t

2. Equation 4 on page 46 should have appeared as:
P cap = P cost (1 + i)N
-

I

N

3. The first equation on page 48 should have read as:
FI = i (3418) +
1- e

/ N2 e- iN
- 5 701 —t
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How We Comply with the
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
A three -year project, this program gives assurance to corporate
management that internal accounting controls are adequate.

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 has
caused many companies to review and revise their
internal control systems. Large corporations, particularly those registered under Section 12 of the
Securities Act of 1934, are especially concerned
with complying with the far - reaching "accounting
standards" provision of the Act.
These provisions require qualified persons to:
"(A) Make and keep books, records, and accounts, which, in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and disposition of
the assets of the issuer; and
(B) Devise and maintain a system of internal
accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that
(i) transactions are executed in accordance
with management's general or specific authorizations;
(ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles or any other criteria applicable to such
statements, and
(iii) access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management's general or specific authorizations; and
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING /NOVEMBER 1979

(iv) the recorded accountability for assets is
compared with the existing assets at reasonable
intervals, and appropriate action is taken with respect to any difference.
"'

By Glenn M. Mcaueary II
and Michael P. Risdon

The term "reasonable detail" allows for consideration of cost - benefit analyses to ensure that implementation of a given control is cost justified.
These statements are taken from paragraph 320
of the AICPA's Statement on Auditing Standards
(SAS) L This portion of SAS 1, in turn, dates back
to the 1949 "Special Report on Internal Control"
prepared by the AICPA Committee on Auditing
Procedure.

Glenn M. McOueary II
is corporate auditor of
Cummins Engine Co.,
Inc., Columbus, Ind. He
received a B.S. degree
in marketing and an
M.A.degree in
accountingfromBall
State University.A
memberofthe South
Central Indiana
Our Company's Decision
Chapter, through which
this article was
Cummins' internal audit staff identified the submitted, he was
need for a program to review, evaluate and docu- awarded a Certificate
of Merit in 197 8-79.
ment internal accounting controls in mid-1977.
The program was in its early development stages
when the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act was
passed, but we delayed the program's implementation in order to interpret the Act's full consequences. This interpretation was aided by: publications issued by such organizations as the major
CPA firms, "The Tentative Report of the Special
Advisory Committee on Internal Accounting Control" from the AICPA, various conferences and
seminars attended by the internal audit group, and
input from our independent accountants.
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Michael P. Risdon is
director - corporate and
EDP auditing of
Cummins Engine Co.,
Inc. A Certificate of
Merit winner, he
received a B.S. degree
in Economics from the
University of Kentucky
and an M.B.A. degree
from the University of
Pittsburgh. He is a
president of the South
Central Indiana
Chapter.

Accounting literature states that internal control, like the financial statements, is management's
responsibility. Because of this statement, our company elected to have the internal audit staff continue developing the internal control documentation program but to have management, through
local control staffs, implement the program. This
approach also acknowledges the general feeling
that line mangement understands its accounting
and operating systems better than anyone else inside or outside the organization.
Designing the Program
The first step in designing the program was to
make an overall preliminary assessment of the
company's internal control environment. The results of this review were deemed positive after
considering several factors.
• A statement of ethical standards was communicated to all employees in mid -1976, and supplemental policy statements now are being
promulgated.
• During 1976, 1977, and 1978, discussions
were held with international personnel and distributors, reaffirming the company's standards as
to its ethical practices in the conduct of commercial business worldwide. The 1978 meetings included a summary of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and its consequences.
• Representation letters are required quarterly
from the operating head and controller of each
entity. These letters include attestation that all fi-
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nancial policies have been adhered to, that no sensitive or improper transactions were executed and
that no cash or noncash funds exist outside the
company's accountability system.
• Conflict -of- interest statements are required
annually from all middle and senior management
personnel.
• Policy statements covering a variety of functions have been published in the company's practice manual. This manual is supplemented by a
finance manual, plant operating manuals, and
many specific "desk procedures."
• Positive responses to the observations of the
independent accountants and the internal auditors
are required and received from corporate and operating personnel.
• Th e 1977 annual report included, for the
first, a statement acknowledging management's
responsibilities for the financial statements.
• Opinions from inside and outside legal counsel that the above - mentioned items, plus the program outlined herein, should document compliance with the accounting standards provisions of
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.
While making this preliminary assessment, we
completed the design of the actual package to
evaluate and document internal accounting control system(s). We consider the following elements
primary to the success of the package: an internal
control questionnaire, the "cycle" approach to
evaluating internal accounting control systems,
and compliance testing. See Figure 1.
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Internal Control Questionnaire
The use of an internal control questionnaire is
the traditional approach to documenting and evaluating internal control systems. See Figure 2. No
one is certain how long the internal control questionnaire has been in existence, but the AICPA
Committee on Auditing Procedure used the questionnaire approach in its 1949 study.
The traditional internal control questionnaire is
designed primarily for an auditor to evaluate an
internal control system by asking yes or no questions. A yes answer normally indicates the control
function under review is adequate and can be relied upon, while a no answer usually identifies a
need for the auditor to expand testing in that area.
We felt this approach was inadequate to document a system, however, so we modified our questionnaire to ask open -ended questions. This type
of question allows management to complete the
questionnaire in such a way as to fully document
the entity's accounting system. It also allows our
internal audit staff to review answers for reasonableness without being on site.
The Cycle Approach
The "cycle approach" is a much - touted method
of documenting and evaluating a system of internal accounting control. This approach classifies
activities into common business cycles for more
convenient analyses. The AICPA "Tentative
Report"' identifies the following five business cycles as follows:
Revenue
Expenditure
Production
Financing
External
Financial
Reporting

Sales, accounts receivables, cash,
and related accounts
Purchasing and payroll cash disbursements, accounts payable,
and such
Production, cost accounting, and
inventory - related activities
Investments, capital stock, debt,
dividend payments, and the like
Preparation of financial statements and the related disclosures.

These cycles closely parallel those of several of the
"Big 8" accounting firms, especially those of Arthur Andersen & Co. as stated in its Guide for
Studying And Evaluating Internal Accounting
Controls.'Our application of the cycle approach is
divided into the following three phases: preliminary assessment, transaction flow review, and
evaluation. See Figure 3.
The Preliminary Assessment
The preliminary assessment provides an overview of the entity's internal control environment.
In making the preliminary assessment, one must
recognize that a poor internal accounting control
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING/ NOVEMBER 1979

environment may make some control procedures
inoperative because, for example, employees may
hesitate to challenge a management override of a
specific control procedure. Controls thus may be
ineffective within a "noncontrol oriented" environment.
In the preliminary assessment we identified essential factors to be considered and analyzed the
entity's performance relating to those factors.
Some of these factors are:
• The objectives and product line of the entity,
• The long -and short-range plans of the entity,
• The impact of any recent structural changes
on the entity,
• The entity's policies and procedures,
• The entity's organization, and
• Management reviews and external audit observations relating to the entity.
Many of these factors are subjective by nature
but once definite procedures are developed to record the correct information properly, the degree
of subjectivity will decrease. At present we are finishing a questionnaire to document this phase of
the cycle approach.
The Transaction Flow Review
There are five steps to be followed in perform41
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Compliance Testing
The final step in the review and evaluation
the system
internal accounting controls is the
performance of compliance tests. See Figure 4.
These tests, to be performed by the internal audit
staff and external auditors in their regular fieldwork, will determine the degree to which the cycle
approach documentation represents the actual
system and the effectiveness of the system.
We feel that it is not necessary to test all techniques listed in the transaction flow review or to
test all answers to the internal control questionnaire. The extent ofany testing will depend on the
of

Representation
letters are
required
quarterly from
the operating
head and
controller of
each entity.

1. Placing the entity's transactions into business
cycles,
2. Subdividing the cycles into functions to facilitate ease in documentation and assessment,
3. Flowcharting these functions, but not in great
detail,
4. Identifying the control objectives that relate to
these functions, and
5. Identifying the control techniques in place to
accomplish these objectives.

sible for the system of internal accounting
controls and will make the review, we feel management should evaluate the system, plan for corrective action, and continuously update the cycle
approach documentations. The corrective plan is
two -fold: the immediate phase and the long -term
phase. The immediate phase is designed to develop a plan ofcorrective action toward other weaknesses and provide for the continued maintenance
of the cycle approach documentation.

of

ing a "transaction flow review." See Figure 3.
They are, in order:

Evaluation of Control Techniques
Evaluating the techniques used to accomplish
the internal control objectives is important. The
evaluation process is the assessment phase of the
cycle approach, and it should lead to a plan of
corrective action for any deficiencies noted. Our
approach goes beyond the AICPA's suggestion by
allowing local entity management to make the
evaluation, with a subsequent review by the internal auditing staff. Because management is respon-
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importance of the cycle, the function, the control
objective, and the control technique.

Figure 4

Training Is Vital
The front end of any project is most important
if that project has any hope of success. The best
way to begin a project of this significance is to
train the personnel involved adequately. We have
developed, with major input from our independent accountants, a two -day workshop designed
to provide intensive training in internal control
concepts and the cycle approach to reviewing and
evaluating internal accounting control systems.
The major sections of the course include:
• An introduction to internal controls and
their importance,
• An explanation of the methods we intend to
use to document and assess internal control,
• A comprehensive case study which requires a
complete documentation and evaluation of an
internal accounting control system, and
• A review and summarization of the above.
The main portion of the course revolves around
case studies and corresponding discussions. Because internal control concepts are dynamic, yet
elusive, we suggest the case study method provides the best means for the student to grasp the
required judgment and skills.

Compliance
testing

F_
Evaluation

I

Audit
recommendations

I
I

Reply
and
action

I

Evaluation

lic
memo

Reply
and
action

Our Controls Are Adequate
Internal control systems have existed as long as
business itself. Just as written accounting records
have evolved into today's financial statements,
Cummins Engine Co. has evolved to a point
where documented systems of internal accounting
controls are necessary. Our project is a three -year
project —the largest ever undertaken by the internal audit staff. We believe we have adequate systems of control surrounded by a very control -oriented environment, so we expect no "surprises"
will come to light. We do expect to evidence com-

pliance with the accounting standards provisions
of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and to document, in writing the system(s) of internal accounting control, which will provide employees with a
better understanding of the system(s), aid in the
training of new employees, and aid in eliminating
needless controls, thereby gaining efficiencies. 0
'United States Congress. House of Representatives, Report No. 95 -831, Foreign
Corrupt Practiccx December 1977.
'American Institute or Certified Public Accountants, Tentative Report ofrhe Special
Advisory Committee on Internal Accounting Control, New York. N.Y., September
1978.
Arthur Andersen & Co., A Guide for Studying and Evaluating Internal Accounting
Controls, Chicago, III., 1978.

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULED ON
AUDITOR'S STANDARD REPORT
The Auditing Standards Board of the AICPA will hold a public
hearing on December 18 and 19 on the issue of revision of the auditor's standard report. It will begin at 9:00 a.m. and will continue, if
necessary, until 5:00 p.m. each day. The hearing will be held in the
Boardroom at the AICPA's office in New York.
If sufficient interest is expressed, one or more subsequent hearings
will be held at later dates in other parts of the country.
Interested parties are welcome to attend, make oral presentations,
or submit written comments in advance. Complete details are available from D. R. Carmichael, File Ref. No. 2140, AICPA, 1211 Avenue of Americas, New York, N.Y. 10036, or call Ms. Meryle L.
Reed at (212) 575 -6404.
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A New Approach to
Business Combinations
Why stick to purchase or pooling when a combination of the two
offers better flexibility and accuracy?

By J. Terry Dewberry
Accounting for business combinations once again
.. i
M�
J. Terry Dewberry,
CPA, is an audit
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is receiving co nsid erable attention from the acco un tin g profession, th e Secu rities & Exchange
Com mission an d others. In 1976, the Financial
Acco u nting Stand ard s Bo ard (FASB) issued a discussion mem o ran d u m on th is matter, and, alth o u gh n o firm d ate h as b een set, public hearings
are plan ned for 1980. Alth o ugh the discussion
memo ran du m add resses a h o st of issues related to
business co mb in atio ns, the most im portant and
b asic issu e is selectin g an acceptable accounting
meth od . Accou n tin g meth od s are becoming increasin gly co m p lex , as evid en ced by som e of the
recently issued FASB statem ents. If these statemen ts are an y in d icatio n o f th e com plexity of futu re statem en ts, th e bu sin ess com binations statem en t will b e a lan d m ark.
In th is article a mo re p ractical approach is propo sed th at p erh aps will stim u late thought toward
sim p lify in g an y new stan dard issued for business
co mb in atio ns. Th e ap proach is a simple, albeit less
th eo retical, m etho d th at can b e used for all com binatio ns regardless o f th e manner in which the
transaction is stru ctu red . Before discussing this
pro p o sed "com b in ed m etho d ," however, we m ust
ex am in e th e m et h o d s cu rren tly in use and th eir
ad vantages and d isad van tages.

There are two currently acceptable methods
used in accounting for business combinations —
"pu rch ase " a nd "p ooling" a s p re scr ibe d b y A PB
Opinion No. 16. The decision to use o ne over the
other depends on the nature of the transaction.
They are not alternatives. A com bination m eeting
all t he t ests for a poo ling m ust be accou nted for
using this m ethod, and purchase accounting is not
acceptable. Correspondingly, all combinations not
meeting the test for pooling treatm ent must be
accoun ted f or as a pur chase . The prim a ry at tributes of the two m ethods are com pared in the shaded box on page 46.
The pooling m ethod can be used only for com binations effected by an exchange of com m on
stock. Those com binations are viewed as a uniting
of own ers hip interest without resources of the
constituents being disbursed. Th e relative rights
and risks of own ership of co m m on stockholder
interests are not changed in the com bination. A
combination m ust m eet all of the conditions specified by APB 16 to be accounted for as a pooling. If
all c onditions are not m et, the purchase m ethod
must be used. Note in the illustration som e of the
advantages and disadvantages of the two m ethods
as discussed in APB 16.
Why Two Methods?
An analysis of several of th e advantages and
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING /NOVEMBER 1979

disadvantages of each method indicate that only
one method should be used for all combinations,
but to see why both methods have been retained,
consider the following examples.
Consider a combination of two companies in
the same industry, approximately the same size
and having the same earning capacity. Regardless
of the type of consideration used —debt, stock or
cash —the recording of fair values and goodwill
for only one of the companies is not consistent
with the significance of the transaction to both
companies and is illogical. Retaining historical cost values or recording fair values and goodwill
for both companies is the more logical and consistent method.
On the other hand, consider the case of a large
acquirer issuing common stock (and meeting all
the other conditions for a pooling) for the common stock of a smaller company whose primary
asset is land and buildings that the acquirer needs
for expansion and which is carried on the books of
the acquiree at a value materially different from
fair value. In this situation it is illogical to record
these assets in the combined statement at their
historical -cost values.
A host ofcombinations with some attributes of
both lies between these two types of combinations.
The previous examples indicate several issues
that the FASB's discussion memorandum questions:

a

1. Are the motivations and objectives of the parties in a business combination important in selecting the appropriate accounting method?
In the above examples, the motivation and objectives would appear to be important.
2. Is the type of consideration used in effecting
the combination important in selecting method?
In the second example, the type ofconsideration
used is irrelevant in determining the proper values to be assigned to the assets acquired.
3. Does the size relationship between the constituent companies or the ability to identify a dominant company affect a combination's substance?
In both examples, it would appear that both of
these factors are important in the substance of
each combination and should have an impact in
determining the proper accounting method to be
used.
When the above questions, factors, opinions
and arguments are considered, it is understandable why accounting for business combinations
has been and continues to be controversial.
Meeting the Criteria
Before discussing a new accounting method, it
is appropriate to consider the objectives used as a
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING /NOVEMBER 1979

basis for its selection. Any accounting method
should at least meet the following objectives.
1. There should be one method appropriate for all
business combinations.
2. The resulting financial statements to the extent
possible should be consistent and comparable.
3. The parameters of existing accounting theory
should be observed so that new standards can
be developed with as much consistency as possible.
4. Implementation should be simplified as much
as possible and be practical.
5. Measurement problems should be reduced and
objective measurement principles adhered to.
6. The method should be easily adaptable to the
new emerging framework of accounting.

Is the purchase
of a business
significant/ y
different from
the purchase of
individual
assets?

Using the previous objectives as a guide, consider the following issues.
The most critical, basic question is whether the
purchase of a business is significantly different
from the purchase of individual assets. It is difficult to see how anyone could argue that there is
not a significant difference between the purchase
of a successful $20 million company and the purchase of a new piece of machinery or inventory.
Although assets are acquired in both cases, the
overwhelming difference in the nature of the assets acquired almost demands that the accounting
principles governing one are not automatically applied to the other. In selecting a method for business combinations, we should be free to choose
from all measurement techniques available or develop new ones, ifnecessary.
Central to the question of accounting for business combinations is the presumption that there
always is a buyer and a seller and that a dominant
company can be identified. It is reasonable to assume that in all but a few rare cases a dominant
company can be identified, and in those few rare
cases, one could specify a criterion to identify one
company arbitrarily as the acquirer. This criterion
could be based on total assets, equity, sales or
some other factor or combination thereof.
Is the type of consideration used to effect a
combination important enought to require separate accounting methods? The use of common
stock to effect a combination has been used as a
major criterion and justification for the pooling
method, and the use ofcash or debt demands purchase accounting, but does the type of consideration used make that much difference? A stockholder receiving marketable stock ofthe acquiring
company can readily convert that stock into cash,
assuming no restrictions on resale. Also, from the
issuer's point of view, the issue of additional
shares representing ownership interests is as much
a resource of the entity as is cash.
As further indication of a lack of difference,
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Purchase vs. Pooling
Purchase
A new accounting basis is
recognized for the
Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the acquired
co mpany.
Retained earnings of the
acquired co mpany existing
at the date o f combination
are not brought fo rward In
the combined financial
statements.

Earnings of the acquired
company are reflected In
the co mbined financial
statements for periods
subsequent to the date of
acquisition.

Goodwill resulting from the
combination, if any, is
recorded as an asset and
amortized through charges
to earnings over a period of
up to 40 years.

Pooling
Assets and liabilities of the
combined co mpanies
simply are combined at
their historical cost values.

Prior periods financial
statements o f the combined
companies are restated.

Retained earnings of the
acquired company are
bro ught f orward and
combined with acquirer's
retained earnings.

There Is no go odwill arising
from the co mbination.

The po oling method
assumes that a combination
effected by an exchange of
stock Is a different type of
transactio n from the
purchase of net assets. This
method reflects more
clearly the substance of a
combination where
ownership Interests are
combined and relative
rights and risks remain
unchanged by retaining the
historical basis of the
accounts and reflecting the
previous and current
earnings on a combined
basis.

unreco rded appreciatio n,
goo dwill and earning
capacities of each company
are deemed to be Implicitly
co nsidered when the
exchange ratios are
determined.

Advantages_
The purchase method
reflects a combination as an
acquisition o f one company
by ano ther based o n the
belief that in almost all
cases one company can be
identif ied as the do minant
continuing entity.

All combinations are
considered bargained
transactions regardless of
the consideration used to
effect the combination.

The purchase method
reflects the economic
substance of a combination
and adheres to basic
acco unting principles for
the acquisition of net assets
by reco rding the assets and
liabilities of the acquired
company at fair values and
recognizing the goodwill, If
any, Inherent In the
transaction.

Earnings of the acquired
company are reflected only
when the acquirer has an
Interest in and right to such
earnings.

The poo ling method Is
consistent with historical cost accounting. The

The pooling method is more
useful because It best
reflects the econo mic
substance o f a combination
by reporting the results of
operations of the combined
entity using the same
historical -co st information
used to develop the
separate results of
operation of each co mpany.
This consistency Improves
comparability between
periods.

Disadvantages
The measurement of the fair
value of the stock Issued In
a combination as well as the
fair values of the assets and
liabilities acquired Is
sometimes dif ficult if not
Impossible.

The theoretical merits of
the purchase method can
be challenged because of
the method of determining
goodwill. The value of
goodwill is stated at its
correct value, as would be
determined by direct
measurement, only by
coincidence as that value Is
In reality only a balancing
figure that equates the total
purchase price to the fair
value of the net assets
acquired.
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Purchase acco unting
records goodwill and fair
values only for the acquired
company, and it the price
paid Is significantly large It
Is Illogical to record fair
value on only one side of
the co mbination.

Application of the purchase
method can result in
"negative" goodwill, or
stated otherwise, the sum
of the fair values of the
Individual assets less
liabilities Is less than the
purchase price. The fact
that this situation can o ccur
Indicates a serious fault in
the purchase method.

It Is difficult to specify crisp,
operable yet simple criteria
to be used in determining
whether o r not combination
should be accounted fo r by
the pooling method.

The pooling method does
not reflect the economic
substance of a combination
because It does not give
effect to the bargained
values of the net assets
acquired.

The traditio nal principles of
accounting fo r the
acquisition of assets is
Ignored. The type of
consideratio n used to effect
a combinatio n should not
Influence the method of
accounting unless the
economic substance of a
transaction is better
reflected in the financial
statements by the use of a
diff erent method.
The tests required for the
poo ling method concerning
treasury stock are In some
cases unreasonable. Many
companies for good
business purpo ses
purchase their o wn sto ck
and such purchases can
preclude a pooling
acquisition.
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stockholders should not be expected to accept a
significantly different price for their interest because of the method of payment used — unless because of their own financial or tax position the
receipt of stock in, say, a tax -free exchange would
induce them to take a lesser amount than in a
taxable cash purchase. Even in that circumstance
the stock has an equivalent cash value to the
stockholders. The problem relates to the measurement of that value, not to the inherent differences
in the type of consideration used. It should not be
appropriate, therefore, for the type of consideration used to rule the accounting method selected.
Examine the Objectives
Are the objectives of the parties involved in a
business combination important in determining
the substance of a transaction and the related accounting method used? Unfortunately, the answer
to this question appears to be yes. It is unfortunate
because of the many problems involved in setting
objective criteria to measure such intentions. This
area is very subjective in nature, and it is doubtful
that operable criteria can be established to identify
these objectives. The only practical way to settle
this issue is to require that all combinations be
accounted for by the same method.
The last issue is that of the relative size of the
constituent companies and in the effect, if any, on
the method of accounting used. Although size has
been mentioned in several arguments for the pooling method, it is not one of the criteria under APB
16. The most important impact that relative size
has on business combination accounting is the use
of that information in making a judgment as to
which company in a business combination is the
dominant company.
The "combined method" that is proposed reflects an attempt to select the most positive aspects of both the purchase and pooling methods
and arrive at a method which can be used for all
business combinations.
Now compare the provisions of the combined
method with those of purchase and pooling presented earlier.
Accounting Basis —The combined method
would not recognize a new accounting basis for
the reported assets and liabilities of either the acquiree or the acquirer.
Earnings —The earnings of the acquiree would
be reflected in the combined financial statements
for periods subsequent to the date of acquisition
and earnings for periods prior to this date would
not be restated. The retained earnings of the acquiree generated prior to the date of acquisition
would not be included in the combined financial
statements.
Excess Cost over Net Assets Acquired —The excess of the cost of the acquired subsidiary, repreMANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING/ NOVEMBER 1979

sented by the fair value of the consideration paid,
over the carrying value of the net assets acquired,
would be reflected in the combined financial statements as a deduction from the combined stockholders' equity. Note that this method does require that the fair value of the consideration paid
be determined. This is usually not very difficult in
most cases, but could present a problem with the
issuance of stock in a closely -held company. In
this case, if there are no other reliable indications
of fair value, then a criterion such as book value
should be specified.
Excess Carrying Value of Net Assets Acquired
over Cost—The excess of the carrying value of the
net assets acquired over the cost of the acquired
subsidiary would be reflected as an addition to the
combined stockholders' equity.
Amortization of Difference between Cost of Acquired Subsidiary and Carrying Value of Net Assets Acquired —The difference between the cost of
the acquired subsidiary and the carrying value of
the net assets acquired would be amortized directly to combined retained earnings using a dollar for- dollar cost recovery approach, based on the
earnings or losses of the acquiree subsequent to
the date of acquisition. In some cases, it may not
be practical to determine the separate earnings of
the acquiree. For the year in which this determination is made, this fact would be disclosed in the
financial statements, and the remaining unamortized portion of the difference between cost and
carrying value would be charged or credited to
retained earnings.
Disclosure —The following disclosure would be
included in footnotes to the financial statements of
the combined companies for the year of combination:

Unfortunately,
the objectives
of the parties
involved in a
business
combination
must be
considered.

The net earnings and earnings before extraordinary items of the acquiree for all periods for
which income statements are presented in the financial statements and including the earnings for
the period from the date of acquisition to the most
recent balance sheet date.
• A description of the terms of the combination.
• A description of the acquiree.
The application of the combined method is illustrated in Tables 1 and 2. Also note the advantages
of this method:
1. The same method can be used for all business
combinations regardless of the type of consideration used. This will improve comparability
between companies.
2. This method uses objective measurement principles (i.e., acquired assets are valued at their
historical -cost basis), so it is much simpler to
apply than the purchase method.
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Table 1
BASIC DATA
Fiscal year both companies: 12/31.

Date of acquistion: 6/30/76.

Acquirer

1975
6 mos. ended 6/30/76
6 mos. ended 12/31/76
1976

Current

700
150

900
150

150
250
350
750

50
50
450
550

750

30,000
25
50

5,000
110

150

—

—

—

—

975
225

—

Stockholders' equity:
Common stock
Paid -in capital
Retained earnings
Total stockholders' equity
Shares outstanding
Book value per share
Market value per share
Income before taxes:

$

Acquiree
Histo rical

—

Assets
Liabilities

Historical

$

Value:

$

55
20
35
75

40
30
25
55

Example 1
Assume four shares of acquirer's common stock are exchanged for each share
of acquiree's outstanding common stock.
Consol. bal. sheet 6/30/76
Combined

1,675

1,675

1,675

1,675

375

375

375

250
1,150
350
1,750

250
250
800
1,300

250
1,150
350
1,750

—

—

Pooling

$1,875
250
$2,125

1,750

1,300

(450 )
1,300

$2,125

1,675

1,675

—

Unamortized excess cost of acquired subsidiary over net assets acquired
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

Purchase

—

Tangible assets
Goodwill
Total assets
Liabilities
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock
Paid -in capital
Retained earnings

Example 2
Assume acquirer pays $1 million in notes for a# of the outstanding common
stock of acquiree:
Consol. bal. sheet 6/30/76

Stockholders' equity:
Common stock
Paid -in capital
Retained earnings
Unamortized excess cost of acquired subsidiary over net assets acquired
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity
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1,675
1,675

1,375

1,375

150
250
350
750

150
250
350
750

750
$2,125

—

Combined

$1,875
250
$2,125

—

Tangible assets
Goodwill
Total assets
Liabilities

Purchase

(450 )
300
1,675

3. Comparability between periods is enhanced
since earnings of the acquired company are not
recorded until after the date of acquisition.
4. This method does not result in goodwill on the
balance sheet. The lack of goodwill is an advantage because of the inherent measurement
problems involved.
5. This method measures the difference between
the consideration paid and the historical cost of
the net assets acquired and not the difference
between consideration and fair value of net assets. Therefore, a result that would indicate the
price paid less than the net assets acquired (i.e.,
negative goodwill under the purchase method)
should occur less frequently assuming the financial statements of the acquiree are presented fairly in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles. Even in those cases
where this result might occur, the combined
method will consistently account for the negative difference.
6. With adequate disclosure users who want a detailed analysis of the combination are able to
perform such analysis based on the basic statements and the supplementary footnote disclosure provided. Users who do not want a detailed analysis can concentrate on the basic
statements that are prepared using readily understood historical values.
Focus Is on the Balance Sheet
During a period when accounting principles are
being questioned critically by many within and
without the profession, particularly as those principles relate to the "quality" of the recorded
amounts presented on the balance sheet, there is
considerable attention being focused on the balance sheet as the primary financial statement.
This is evident from the legal cases in the past
few years that question the decisions made regarding value of assets and liabilities on the balance
sheet. Although this is an oversimplification of a
problem facing the accounting profession, one
cannot help but wonder if we have not swung too
far in our efforts to match costs with revenues and
in some cases ignored the resulting effect on the
balance sheet. With this in mind, is it not preferable to use an accounting method for significant
transactions such as business combinations that
consistently will result in balance sheets where assets are recorded at easily determined objective
values and questionable assets, such as goodwill
and market value increments, are reflected as an
increase in stockholders' equity only as realized.
This advantage strongly outweighs the argument
that not recording the net assets of an acquiree at
fair value ignores the economic substance of a
business combination, notwithstanding the fact
that no one has determined what attributes define
the "economic substance" of such a transaction. If
MANAGEMENTACCOUNTING/NOVEMBER
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by economic substance one means recognizing the
fair value of the consideration given up in a business combination, a review of Table 1 will show
that under the combined method, the total purchase price at fair value is reflected in the financial
statements as an increase in common stock and
additional paid -in capital for a stock transaction,
and as a liability in a debt transaction. Further,
the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid and the net assets acquired is reflected as a reduction or addition to total stockholders'
equity. Thus, the "economic substance" of the
transaction is reflected in the financial statements
where it should be—in the equity section.
The Combination Method Meets the Criteria
Earlier six objectives were presented for a useful
accounting method. How well does the combination method meet these objectives?
1. The method can be used for all combinations.
2. The resulting financial statements will be consistent because no change in accounting basis is
required. Comparability will be improved because all companies would use the same method.
3. The method does not conform to the existing
parameters of accounting theory because purchased assets are not recorded at the value of
consideration paid. As mentioned earlier, however, the significance of a business combination
to the entities involved justifies "bending the
rules" a little.
4. The method is simple to implement.
5. Only objective measurement principles are
used.
b. Regardless ofthe changes brought about by the
new accounting framework, this method can be
adopted easily. Ifthe new framework requires
more emphasis on current value accounting,
the procedures of this method would not
change because both companies' financial statements would be presented on the same basis
and there would be no reason to change the
accounting basis of either.
The combination method meets many of the objectives specified and offers a simplified approach
to accounting for business combinations. Al-
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Table 2
APPLYING THE COMBINED METHOD
Assume the diff erence between the purchase price ($1,000,000) and
the net asset o f acquiree ($550,000) would under the purchase method be amo rtized as fo llows:
Description
Goodwill
Market value increase due to:
Land or other assets
realized only upon sale
Current assets
Depreciable assets

Amortization
Amount period years

Amount per year

$250

40

$ 6

50
50
100

—
1
10

—
50
10

$450

66

Using the abo ve, co nso lidated inco me bef o re inco me taxes wo uld
be:
1975
1976
1977
1978
1979

Purchase

Pooling

Combined

$ 55
67
109
149
169

95
130
150
165
185

55
100
150
165
185

The amount of the excess cost of acquired subsidiary over net assets acquired amortized directly to retained earnings under the combined method
would be:
Amount
amortized
1976
1977
1978
1979

$25
65
75
85

At December 31, 1979, assuming no dividends or other capital transaction,
consolidated stockholders' equity would be:
Common stock
Paid -in capital
Retained earnings

$ 250
1,150
680
$2,080

Unamortized excess
cost of acquired
subsidiary over
net assets acquired

(200 )
$1,880

though the profession will be working under the
existing pronouncements for some time, it is
hoped that the proposed combined method provides a practical alternative for discussion during
the development of the new business combination
statement.
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CAS H MANAGEMENT: PLANNING,
FORECASTING AND CONTROL
by W.C. F. Hartley and Yale L. Meltzer

skills. Illustrations are adapted from real business correspondence, current business English
texts and other sources.

In this practical guide, the authors explain just
what cash flow is, how it behaves and how operating managers and financial executives,
working as a team, can effectively measure,
forecast and control cash flow. It contains
sc ore s of cha rts, diagra ms and illustrations
showing sound financial management.

John Wiley & Sons
400 pp.

Prentice -Hall, Inc.
216 pp.

1979
$12.95 hardcover

WRITING AUDIT REPORTS
by Mary C. Bromage
Demonstrates proven, practical methods for
designing the format, content and sequence to
satisfy the requirements for the auditor's own
management and the organization being audited. The book contains illustrations of audit reports for the public and private sectors.
McGraw -Hill Book Co.
193 pp.

1979
$16.50

EXECUTIVE'S GUIDE TO BUSINESS LAW
by William A. Hancock
Written in easy -to- understand language free of
technical and legal jargon, the guide deals with
both the broad scope of business law and the
specific areas that may lea d to legal complications. This authoritative work concentrates on
making managers sensitive to potential legal
problems that could occur in any situation.
McGraw -Hill Book Co.
847 pp.

1979
$29.95

INVENTORY CONTROL FOR THE
FINANCIAL EXECUTIVE
by T.S. Dudick and R. Cornell
This book presents a methodology for creating
executive control over inventory and is the first
boo k to deal with all aspects of the subject
from the viewpoint of the executive including
reducing back orders, improving delivery times,
reducing obsolescence and improving product
mix. The contents apply to any business.
Ronald Press
256 pp.

1979
$24.95

BUSINESS ENGLISH
by Roger W. Dow
Here's a basic business English text that can
be used as a ready reference to help your secretarial and clerical staff improve their basic

1979
$11.95

CONTROLLER'S HANDBOOK
by Sam R. Goodman and James R. Reece

If your bookstore doesn't have a
copy of that special professional
book you want —don't fret! You can

order any business - related book
published by any of our cooperating
publishers— through NAA. There's
no minimum number to buy and you
buy what you want when
you want it —at a 10 %
discount. Following are just
a sampling of titles from
some —but not all —
cooperating publishers.
Please ask about other
titles and publishers.

A working tool for controllers, the book covers
all aspects of the controller's function. Contributors to the book actually are engaged in solving day -to -day problems and are top -notch in
their field. A unique new reference book.
Dow Jones -Irwin
1,253 pp.

1978
$35.00

A DICTIONARY FOR ACCOUNTANTS (fifth
edition)
by Eric L. Kohler
Combining up -to- the - minute definitions of essential terminology with capsule explanations
of basic methods and techniques, this is a one volume accounting library. The book not only
covers all facets of accounting but includes
terms from related technologies such as law,
finance, insurance, commerce, and statistics.
Prentice -Hall, Inc.
512 pp.

1975
$23.95

PORTFOLIO OF ACCOUNTING SYSTEMS
FOR SMALL AND MEDIUM -SIZED
BUSINESSES (second edition)
by National Society of Public Accountants
This comprehensive volume covers 70 different
types of businesses, giving characteristics of
each business which affect the accounting system, the functional organization of the business
and a class ification of accounts as well as samples of forms and statements.
Prentice -Hall, Inc.
1,392 pp.

1977
$45.00

THE MARKETING OF PROFESSIONAL
ACCOUNTING SERVICES
by James J. Mahon

LEGAL AND FINANCIAL ASPECTS OF
EQUIPMENT LEASING TRANSACTIONS
by Richard M. Contino

Written by a retired Big 8 partner, the book offers a well- structured, detailed description of
how CPAs can market their services. The author documents time - tested techniques of acquiring clients and building a practice.

From start to finish, this book shows you how to
handle a leasing transaction, both from the lessor's and lessee's points of view. It includes
checklists, suggestions, examples and professional rules of thumb covering all the legal,
economic and accounting points in the equipment lease transaction.

John Wiley & Sons
210 pp.

1978
$17.95

SOURCEBOOK FOR PROGRAMMABLE
CALCULATORS
by Texas Instruments, Inc.

Prentice -Hall, Inc.
400 pp.

1979
$34.95

THE PAINE WEBBER HANDBOOK OF
STOCK AND BOND ANALYSIS
by Kiril Sokoloff, editor -in -chief

This authoritative work features step -by -step
progra ms a nd e xa mple s tha t c a n be a da pte d
easily to on- the -job needs in many diverse areas. Although the book uses keystroke sequences that apply specifically to TI Programmable 58 and 59 calculators, the information can
be mo dified by the reader to adjust to o ther
programmable calculators.

This handbook breaks new ground —it tells you
when to buy or sell stocks on an industry- by -industry basis instead of just featuring general information on buying and selling stocks and
bonds. Contributors are the top people in their
specialities who have written for every level.

McGraw -Hill Book Co.
408 pp.

McGraw -Hill Book Co.
609 pp.

1979
$16.50

1979
$29.50
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Improving Present Value
Analysis with a
Programmable Calculator
Using the stochastic approach, the management accountant can
state his subjective estimates in the form of a probability
distribution, and the reliability of these estimates can be evaluated.

By Amy Hing -Ling Lau and Hon - Shiang Lau

V

Amy Hing -Ling Lau is
an assistant professor
of accounting at
Washington State
University. She holds a
master's degree in
professional
accountancy from
Texas Christian
University. This article
was submitted through
the St. Louis Chapter.

It is both desirable and practical to consider uncertainties in cost /profit planning using a programmable calculator to compute probabilities.
We demonstrate here how such an approach can
be employed in present value analysis of investment projects.
Consider a Project W requiring an initial investment of I = $1,000. The life of the project is
n = 3 years, and the net cash flows at the end of
each
of
the
next
3
years
are
C, = C 2 = C, = $500. If these net cash flows are
completely certain or riskless, and if the riskless
capital cost is i = 10 %, then the net present value
(NPV) of the project is simply:
11

NPV = —1 +

C`—

E
,_, (1 +

i)t

500
500
_ — 1.000 + 1. I + 1.1 2

+

500 — $243.5
1.1'

Of course, the future cash flows of an investment project are rarely certain or riskless, and two
common methods are available to adjust for the
uncertainties of the cash flows, C,'s. One method
is to use a lower "certainty equivalent" amount
52

for each of the uncertain future cash flows. For
example, if C, is somewhat uncertain and
C, = $500 stated earlier represents perhaps the
"most likely" estimate of C,, then one might substitute the value of $400 (80% of $500) for C, in
computing the NPV. Similarly, if C2 is highly uncertain, one might use only the value of $250
(50% of $500) for C2. The other method is to use
a higher discounting rate to account for the uncertainties of future cash flows. That is, the more
risky are the C,'s in the first equation, the higher
will be the value of i used to compute the NPV. In
short, both methods adjust for uncertainty by presenting a lower computed NPV. The first method
achieves this by using smaller values for the numerators in the general terms Y, [C, /(1 + i)]. The
second method achieves this by using larger values for the denominator in the general terms. The
major disadvantage of these methods obviously is
their arbitrariness. No specific criterion is given
for labelling a cash flow or a project as either
somewhat uncertain or highly uncertain. Even if a
cash flow say, C„ is recognized to be highly uncertain in the first method, one still has to decide
arbitrarily whether C,'s certainty equivalent is to
be 50% of C 2's most likely estimate, rather than
40% or 60 %n. Similarly, even if a project is recognized to be highly uncertain in the second methMANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING/ NOVEMBER 1979

tion, except that the future cash flows are now
represented in the form of subjectively estimated
random variables. For example, if a knowledgeable manager is asked to estimate the probability
of achieving various cash flow levels in the first
year, one may obtain the subjectively- estimated
probability distribution of C, as shown in Table 1.
Using the canned program for a programmable
calculator (see pages 54 -55), we can easily and
rapidly compute the f.f.m. and the skewness and
kurtosis indices of such a probability distribution
using a programmable calculator. Using this procedure, the numerical results for C, are:

skewness measure: a, (C,) = µ

Consider the same Project W and the first equaMANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING /NOVEMBER 1979

3/ [u 2] '

1

=

0.3285,

kurtosis measure:
a 2 ( C r ) = µa 1[u2] 2

—

3 = —0.640

(Rate of discounting is the riskless rate, i = 10 %,)
We assume, of course, that the probabilistic estimates of C, given in Table 1 have been elicited
from knowledgeable personnel. A large number of
techniques have been developed for accurately obtaining the subjective probabilistic beliefs of a
manager and for pooling the subjective beliefs of a
panel of knowledgeable experts.,
Assume now that, using the same procedure
outlined above, one obtains similarly the f.f.m. of
C, and C,. The f.f.m. of I, C,, C 2 and C, of our
hypothetical problem are summarized in rows 1 to
4 of Table 2. Because the initial investment I is
assumed to be deterministic, the second to fourth
moments of I are all zero. For this problem, the
f.f.m. of Project W's NPV are given in Row 5 of
Table 2.
See pages 54 -55 for the computational theory
and procedure for obtaining the Row 5 figures
from the figures in Rows 1 to 4.
Interpreting the NPV's F.F.M.
Given the f.f.m. of a project's NPV, the mean
provides a feeling of the project's profitability,

(µt)

Table 1
PROBABILITY DISTRIBUTION OF C
Class
mark

Probabllhy of
realizing C, In range

$200 to
300 to
400 to
500 to
600 to
700 to
800 to

250
350
450
550
650
750
850

0.10
0.20
0.20
0.25
0.10
0.10
0.05

>

>

Range of C,

>
>
>

$300
400
500
600
700
800
900

>

Obtaining the F.F.M. of the Cash Flows and the
NPV

Hon - Shiang Lau is an
associate professor of
management at
Washington State
University. He has a
Ph.D. degree from the
University of North
Carolina.

mean: p,(C,) = 505, variance: µ 2 ( C , ) = 26475,
3r'' moment: 4 3 ( C , ) = 1.415 X 10%
411' moment: µ,(C,) = 1.654 X 10 1,

>

od, one has to decide whether the higher discounting rate should be 18 %, or 20 %, or whatever.
Hillier and Hertz have developed more "logical" approaches for handling uncertainties in
present value analysis.' In their approaches, the
future cash flows C,'s are represented by random
variables, and the C,'s degrees of uncertainty are
explicitly reflected by their probability distributions. As a result, the NPV also becomes a random variable; and again, the project's risk (as well
as its "profitability ") also will be reflected by the
NPV's probability distribution. The problem,
then, is to derive the NPV's probability distribution from the specified probability distributions of
the C,'s. In Hillier's approach, the C,'s and the
NPV are all restricted to be normally distributed.
Using fairly simple formulas, the mean and variance of the NPV can then be calculated from the
means and variances of the C,'s.The Hertz approach is more general. It does not restrict the C,'s
and the NPV to any particular distribution form,
but his methodology requires computer simulation with considerable software support in order
to obtain the NPV's probability distribution.
Many managerial uncertainties cannot be represented by normal distributions; therefore, the ability of the Hertz approach to handle diversified distribution forms is clearly an important advantage.
The fact, however, that a computer with considerable software must be used in Hertz's procedure
often deters practitioners of present value analysis. We offer an alternative procedure for present
value analysis that enables analysts to describe
various uncertainties realistically with diversified
probability distribution forms, and requires only
minutes with a hand -held programmable calculator to perform the computation. The alternative
prodedure will be presented in two parts. First, we
will discuss the procedures for obtaining the "first
four moments" (f.f.m.) of the C,'s and the NPV.
Then we will demonstrate the uses of the NPV's
f.f.m. in evaluating investment projects.
Since the pioneering work of the great statistician K. Pearson in 1895, 2 workers in natural and
applied sciences have recognized that the random
variables in the real world have diversified "location," "dispersion," "skewness" and "kurtosis;"
(kurtosis measures how "peaky" a distribution is);
and that these essential characteristics of a random variable x can be efficiently summarized by
its "first four moments "; that is, its mean µ,(x), its
variance µ 2(x), and its third and fourth central
moments, µ,(x), and µ,(x). From the f.f.m., one
also can compute the skewness index °, (x) = µ,
(x)/ [ µ 2(x)] 1I and the kurtosis index
(x) = i 1,(x) /[ 1A2( x) ] 2 i - 3.
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How to Do Present Value Analysis
Here's how the probabilities in present value analysis can be determined
through use of a programmable calculator.
We make use of the following statistical formulas: Given the f.f.m. of random
variables x and y, the f.f.m. of the variable w = x+ y are given by:
µ 1( W ) = µ 1( X ) +
µ 2( W ) = µ 2( X ) +
µ 3( W ) = µ 3 (X)

1 1( y )

1

µ 2( y )

(Al)

+ µ 3(y)

P2 (*
11 4(W) = 114(X) + 6

2 (y ) +

µ

(y)

4

Given a constant k and the f.f.m. of a random variable x, the f.f.m. of the
variable w = kx are given by:
µ m(w) = km - 4 1( X ) ,

m = 1 to 4

(A2)

The NPV formula is

n
Ct
NPV = — I + 1
t =1 (1 +1)t
n
Ct

(A3)
(A4)

t =o (1 +i)t

STEP 1.

STEP

s.

m

µ

since the initial investment I can be considered as just another cash flow. From
equation (A2), the f.f.m. of the general term C,/(1 +i), is simply
(C,) /(1 + i ) m 1 ,
m = 1 to 4. The f.f.m. of a project's NPV can best be computed by considering
the effects of the annual cash flows one at a time, as follows:
Assign the initial value of 0 to all the f.f.m. of the NPV.
For each C, of year t, the NPV's f.f.m. are altered according to the
formulas
1
4 1(NPVa) = 4 1(NPVo) + 4 1(C1)/( 1 +i)
(NPV,) + 112(C1)/(1 + i) 21
µ 2 (NPV. ) = µ 2

(A5)

+i )3 1
4 3(NPV.) = 4 3(NPVo) + µ3(Ct) /(1
µ 4(NPVa)

=

µ

1
(N PV.) + 6 tt 2 (NPV.) • µ 2 (C)/(' +1 )2

4

+ 4 4 ( C ) / ( 1 + i)41

Equations (A5) are directly obtainable from equations (Al), (A2)
and (A4); NPV, and NPV„ denote respectively the "altered" NPV
and the "old" NPV.
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with a Programmable Calculator
STEP3.

Repeat Step 2 for each C, until all the cash flows have been considered. The f.f.m. of the final NPV. are the f.f.m. of the project's
NPV.

A convenient program for executing the above procedure with a TI S2 calculator is given below. The program can be easily adapted to other brands of programmable calculators. The Program Listing:
LBL A
1 + RCL 00 = Yx RCL 05 = STO 15
RCL 01 = RILL 15 = SUM 11
6 X RCL 12 X (RCL 02 = RCL 15X2) SUM 12 = STO 16
RCL 03 = RCL 15 Yx 3 = SUM 13
RCL 04 = Rt '#^L 15 Yx 4 + RCL 16 = SUM 14
HLT
The steps for using the above program are:
STEP1.

Clear all memories and read in program. Enter the value of the
discounting rate i into memory 00.

STEP z.

For each cash flow, enter the f.f. m. of the cash flow's probability
distribution into memories 01 to 04, and enter the year of the cash
flow in memory 05.

STEP 3 .

Press key "A."

STEP 4.

Repeat steps 2 and 3 for each cash flow. When all the cash flows
have been entered, the f.f.m. of the project's NPV are stored in
memories 11 to 14.

As an example, the steps for computing the NPV's f.f.m. of the project specified in Table 2 are:
1. Clear all memories, read in program, enter the value of 0.1 into memory 00.
2. For the first cash flow I = 1000, enter the values 1000, 0, 0, 0, and 0 into
memories 01 to 05 respectively. Press key "A."
3. For C,, enter the values, 505, 26475, 1.415 X 106, 1.654 X 109 and 1 into
memories 01 to 05 respectively. Press key "A."
4. For C,, enter the values 500, 2800, 2.5 X 10°, 2.0 X 109 and 2 into memories
01 to 05 respectively. Press key "A."
5. For C,, enter the values 510, 35000, 2.6 X 106, 2.2 X 109and 3 into memories
01 to 05 respectively. Press key "A."
6. The NPV's f.f.m. as shown in Row 5 are now stored in memories 11 to 14.
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The calculation
of probabilities
for analysis
purposes is now
feasible with
programmable
calculators.

and the variance reflects the project's degree of
uncertainty or riskiness. Also, using all the four
moments together enables one to determine the
probability of achieving any specified NPV level.
As illustrated in the following paragraphs, the
NPV's f.f.m. provides sufficient probabilistic information for management to make consistent investment choices under practically all common
decision criteria.
Consider the situation in which one has to select an investment project out of three alternatives, W, X, and Y; and each project requires the
same initial investment of $1,000. The preceding
two sections have explained the determination of
the NPV's f.f.m. for Project W. We will assume
that the NPV's f.f.m. for Projects X and Y are
similarly determined, and these NPV's are summarized in Table 3.
A very common and intuitively appealing criterion is to select the project with the highest expected NPV. Under this criterion, the figures in
Table 3 indicate that Project Y should be selected.
However, it is now well recognized in managerial
decision theory that most rational investors are
"risk averse," and one should consider the tradeoffs between uncertainties and expected returns of
risky investments. The most well - established selection tradeoff was first proposed by Markowitz
(see footnote 1): for each Project P, the "utility"
U is computed as:
P

U,, = ie,(NPV) — kµ (NPV)
2

and the project with the highest utility score is

selected. The quantity "k" in this equation is the
"risk -return tradeoff factor" indicating the investor's degree of risk aversion. A "conservative"
investor will have a higher k- value, and the desirability of a project decreases rapidly with the increase of the NPV's variance. Conversely, a small
k -value indicates that the investor is less averse to
the NPV's variance (i.e., the uncertainties). Under
this criterion, Table 3 indicates that Project W
"dominates" Project X, since U,, will be larger
than Ux regardless of the value of "k" used in the
equation. Assuming that k = 0.002, Projects W
and Y can then be compared by computing:
U w = 255.5 — (0.002 X 60760) = 134.0•
and
U y = 300 — (0.002 X 95000) = 110.
That is, Project W should be selected.
Many empirical studies` have revealed the following behavior in managerial decision making: A
certain performance level has been established,
and one is interested in maximizing the probability of achieving that performance level. Depending
on the situation, the established performance level
may represent an "optimistic" goal that one
should aspire to, or it may represent a "conservative" lower limit which nobody should go below.
Assume now that we have established an "optimistic" goal of achieving an NPV of $500 for the
$1,000 initial investment. Given the f.f.m. of a
project's NPV, the probability of realizing an

Table 2
SUMMARIZING F.F.M. OF I, C„ C,, C„ AND P.V.
Discounting rate i = 10%
Variable

Year

Row 1

1

0

—1000

Row 2

C,

1

Row 3

C2

Row 4
Row 5

µ ,

µ 2

µ3

0

0

0

505

26475

1.415 X 10 6

1.654 X 10 1

2

500

28000

2.5

x 10 1

2.0

,, 101

C3

3

510

35000

2.6

x 10 1

2.2

X 10,

NPV

—

255.5

60760

3.58 X 10 6

10.1

X 10 9

u

Table 3
NPV's F.F.M. FOR PROJECTS W, X, AND Y
NPV's stochastic characteristics
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(NPV)

µ 2

(NPV)

µ

Projects

µ3

(NPV)

µ, (NPV)

a,

a

1

10.1 X 10 9

0.239

—0.264

2

W

255.5

60760

3.58 X 10

X

255.5

80800

2.99 X 10'

26.1 X 10 9

1.3

1.0

Y

300.0

95000

1.76 X 10 7

21.7 X 10 1

0.6

—0.6
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NPV of $500 with the project can be conveniently
determined by consulting the tables available in
Biometrika Tables for Statisticians, Vol. IP. Following that procedure, the figures in Table 3 enable us to arrive at the following results.
Project W, probability (NPV > 500) = 18%
Project X, probability (NPV > 500) = 20%
Project Y, probability (NPV > 500) = 27%
That is, Project Y should be selected.
Assume now that we have established as a lower performance limit that the NPV of a project
should not be less than zero. Again, the figures in
Table 3 enable us to arrive at the following results.
Project W, probability (NPV > 0) = 83%
Project X, probability (NPV > 0) = 90%
Project Y, probability (NPV > 0) = 80%
That is, if one wishes to maximize the probability
of realizing an NPV of $0 or more, Project X
should be selected. The selection of Project X may
be surprising to someone familiar with the well known "mean- variance criterion" because it was
pointed out two paragraphs earlier that Project X
is always inferior to Project W. However, the validity of the mean - variance criterion is based on
the assumption of normally distributed returns;
and this numerical example serves to demonstrate
that, when analysts are allowed to describe uncertainties more realistically with diversified distribution forms, the mean - variance criterion may become misleading.
The preceding sections have indicated that
there are two distinctly different approaches for
handling risk or uncertainty in present value analysis. In the first approach, which we will refer to
as "deterministic," one accounts for the uncertainties of cash flows by using either lower "certainty equivalents" of cash flows or a higher discounting rate. These adjustments transform the
problem into a seemingly deterministic one, after
which the project's NPV is also obtained as a
seemingly deterministic single - point value. In the
second approach, which we will refer to as "stochastic," the uncertain cash flows are considered
as random variables whose uncertainties are explicitly reflected in their probability distributions.
The NPV is then also a random variable, and the
characteristics of the NPV's probability distribution can be determined from the probability distributions of the cash flows. The difference between
the two approaches is: the stochastic approach is
"subjective," but the deterministic approach is
"arbitrary." The following section will explain the
significance of this difference.
Being Subjective Versus Being Arbitrary
Contrary to the misconception held by many,
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTING/ NOVEMBER 1979

there is a basic and important difference between
an "arbitrary" approach and a "subjective" approach. A manager will probably feel offended if
we say his job consists of making "arbitrary"
judgments. At the same time, most people will
agree that management is not a "science," and
that managers are paid to make "subjective" judgment. Indeed, if a high - salaried manager can
make his managerial judgment with well- defined
quantitative procedures,` he should be paid a
much lower salary. Note that it is impossible and
meaningless to evaluate the validity of an arbitrary statement, but the validity of a subjective
statement can be evaluated later on. The most
common example is the subjective forecasts made
by an experienced weather forecaster. The statement "there is a 50% chance of rain tomorrow" is
clearly subjective, but in the long run, we can
evaluate the skill of this forecaster by looking at
all the days for which he has forecasted a "50%
chance of rain." If close to 50% of these days
actually turned out to be rainy, then we say this
forecaster is "reliable." However, many empirical
studies have revealed that, although a knowledgeable manager is capable of making reliable subjective estimates for individual specific factors separately, he is much less capable in integrating these
estimates to arrive at logically consistent
decisions.6 This is where quantitative managerial
techniques come in: their purpose is to help the
human mind to integrate these subjective judgments into logically consistent decisions. In the
process of doing this, using a quantitative managerial technique also will force the manager to clarify and sharpen his subjective judgment.
The concepts presented above enable us to explain why the deterministic approach of present
value analysis is arbitrary, while the stochastic approach is subjective. In the case of the deterministic approach, consider the method of using a higher discounting rate to account for higher risk. In
this method, there is no clear cut criterion for
classifying an investment project into a certain
"risk category" such as "not risky" or "highly
risky." Even after an investment is classified into a
specific risk category, there is no specific rule for
determining the appropriate discounting rate for
that "risk category." Since both the risk category
and the discounting rate are determined arbitrarily, their reliability cannot be evaluated meaningfully later on. In contrast, the stochastic approach
requires the knowledgeable manager to state his
subjective estimates in the form of a probability
distribution, and the reliability of these estimates
can be later evaluated just as one would evaluate
the reliability of a meteorologist's weather forecasts. After the subjective estimates of the future
cash flows are stated, these estimates are then integrated by a consistent and logical procedure to
form a composite merit indicator —the NPV's

A

manager who
is characterized
as making
"arbitrary"'
judgments will
probably feel
offended.
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probability distribution. Given this merit indicator, the manager is then again allowed to make
this choice according to his subjective risk preference and selection criterion,
We have presented a convenient technique for
handling the problem of present value analysis
with uncertain future cash flows. The advantages
of the proposed technique are: It allows managers
and analysts to describe realistically their subjective estimates with various probability distribution
forms, the computations can be easily performed
with a programmable hand -held calculator, and it
makes full use of the knowledgeable managers'
subjective judgment.
❑

i See. James Van Horne, Financial Management and Policy. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.1., 1977; Harold Bierman and Herome Hass, An Introduction to
Managerial Finance, W.W. Norton, New York, N.Y.. 1973; and George Phippotco. ,
Financial Management, Holden -Day, San Francisco, Calif., 1973.
t The procedure for characterizing a random variable by its first four moments was
developed to 1895 by K. Pearson in "Contributions to the Mathematical Theory of
Evolution 11, "Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London," Vol.
A186, pp. 343 -414. The first textbook to popularize the procedure among practi.
tioners is Frequency Curves and Carmlation by Sir W.P. Elderton. The original
procedure requires much computations, but a set of tables that greatly simplifies the
procedure is now available in "Tables of Percentage Points of Pearson Curves,"
Riometrika. Vol. 50, 1963, by N.L. Johnson et al. These table, arc now reprinted to
the Riometrika Tables (.c footnote 5).
7 An excellent review in this area has been given by G.R. Chesley in "Elicitation of
Subjective Probabilities —A Review,- the Accounting Review, April 1975.
+See. James March and Herbert Simon, Organizations, John Wiley, New York,
N.Y.. 1958 and Ralph Swalm. "Utility Theory— Insights into Risk Taking," Harvard Business Review, Nov. -Dec.. 1966.
5 E.S. Pearson and H.D. Hartley, Biometrika Tables for Starirstittans, Vol. 11, Cambridge University Press, Cambndge, Mass., 1972. Recently Kottas, Lau and Lau
also have given a detailed illustration of The use of these tables in "A General
Approach to Stochastic Munagement Planning Models," Accounting Review. April
1978.
n See "Consistency, and Optimality in Managerial Decision Making." by E.H. Bowman, Management Science, January 1963; H. Moskowitz and 1. Miller, "Information and Decision Systems for Production Planning." Management Science, November 1975.

ACCREDITATION
OF ACCOUNTING PROGRAMS
AT COLLEGES AND UNIVERSITIES
The accreditation of accounting programs at colleges and universities in the United States has been a concern of the accounting profession and accounting professors in recent
years. The original impetus for accreditation came from a
committee of the American Institute of CPAs and was further stimulated by a joint AICPA /AAA committee on which
the NAA and the FEI participated as observers. The activities ofthese committees led the American Assembly of Collegiate Schools of Business (AACSB) to appoint an Accounting
Accreditation Planning Committee in the summer of 1978 to
draft proposed accreditation standards for accounting programs to be administered by the AACSB. The Committee is
made up of representatives from four accounting organizations, AAA, AICPA, FEI and NAA and from the AACSB.
Joseph Newman, vice president and controller of Dravo Corporation, is the NAA representative on the Accounting Accreditation Planning Committee.
The Accounting Accreditation Planning Committee has
met regularly since the Fall of 1978. It has developed a set of
proposed standards for the accreditation of accounting programs. The proposed standards have been released for public
review and comment. A summary of the proposed standards
is presented below. A complete copy can be obtained from the
AACSB, Its address will be found in the announcement of the
public hearing at the end of this article.
Proposed Standards
The proposed standards have been developed for three
accounting degree programs: baccalaureate degrees with a
concentration in accounting, master's degrees in business administration and management with a concentration in accounting, and master's degrees in accounting. The latter mas58

ter's degrees may be awarded in conjunction with a five -year
integrated program, a one -year master's built upon an undergraduate accounting degree or longer -term graduate programs for candidates with nonaccounting undergraduate degrees.
The proposed standards require that 1) the graduates of the
accounting program meet the AACSB standards for general
education, for foundation courses in business administration,
and the proposed accounting requirements; 2) the accounting
faculty have initiating responsibility and a significant amount
of influence on curriculum required of accounting students,
faculty employment and promotion criteria and decisions,
and upon admission, retention and graduation standards for
students; and 3) the program prepare students for professional careers in industry, finance, government, not - for -profit organizations, and public practice. The proposed standards include criteria in several important areas. A summary of them
is presented below.
Students—admission, retention and graduation requirements should compare favorably with those of the business
administration unit.
Faculty Personnel —the faculty shall possess the educational qualifications, professional accounting experience and interests, classroom teaching ability, and scholarly productivity
essential for the conduct of a successful accounting program.
The standards provide criteria to measure the number of ac' This material on the accreditation ofaccounting programs
was prepared by James Bulloch. Dr. Bulloch served as secretary to the NAA Professional and Accreditation Committee. He
also attended the meetings of the Accounting Accreditation
Planning Committee of the AACSB.
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counting teachers required for the size of the accounting student body, the number of teachers who must be full -time
members of the faculty, the proportion of the faculty which
must possess the doctorate degree, a professional certificate
and current relevant professional accounting experience. The
proportion of the faculty required in each category increases
from the baccalaureate, to MBA, to the masters in accounting
programs. Further, the proposed standards would require
schools to have programs to evaluate a faculty member's
teaching performance and research activities.
Curriculum —all accredited programs must require their
students to meet educational requirements in three categories.
• General education — English communication arts, behavioral science and humanities, political and legal environment
of business and society, and mathematics.
• Common body of business knowledge (as defined by
AACSB) -- production, finance and marketing processes; legal
and economic environment of profit and not - for -profit organizations; principles of financial and management accounting;
quantitative methods and information systems; organization
theory, behavior and interpersonal communications; and
analysis and policy determination of the overall management
level.
• Accounting — financial accounting and accounting theory, management accounting, management information and
computer systems, financial and operational auditing, and

taxation. The proportion of the total educational experience
in each category will depend upon the particular program.
The masters degree in accounting programs require the greatest amount of accounting study.
Library and Computer Services—library and computer
services must be adequate for the educational needs of the
accounting program. The computer services should include
hardware and software appropriate to data management systems, control requirements, and evaluation processes faced in
accounting careers.
Budget and Facilities— adequate budget and physical facilities to meet the objectives of the accounting program are required.
Educational Innovation and Technology —those involved
with accredited accounting programs must be alert to new
learning approaches and technology.
NAA Position on Accreditation
In January 1976 the NAA Board of Directors accepted a
report from an ad hoc committee on Professional Schools and
Accreditation favoring accreditation. This NAA committee
has reviewed the proposed standards and found no major
shortcomings in the standards. Therefore, it supported the
decision to make them available for public review and
discussion. NAA will participate in the public hearing in
February.

Public Hearing on Proposed Accounting
Accreditation Standards
A public hearing to receive comments on proposed accounting accreditation standards of the
American Assembly of Collegiate Schools of Business will be held February 14-15, 1980, at the Hilton Hotel, Dallas, Texas. On Thursday, sessions
will run from 8:30 a.m. to 12:00 noon and 1:004:30 p.m.; on Friday, from 8:30 a.m. to 12:00
noon.
Presentation Procedures:
Persons wishing to comment on the proposed
standards may submit written statements (20 copies) to be received at the AACSB office no later
than January 15, 1980. Persons wishing to make
an oral presentation at the public hearing must
submit a "Request to Make a Presentation" form
by December 15, 1979 and written statement (20
copies) on the major points to be made at the
hearing by January 15, 1980. All written state-
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ments will become part of the public record. Write
to the executive vice president of AACSB for the
official Notice of Public Hearing and the "Request
to Make a Presentation" form.
Copies of the Proposed Standards:
Copies of the exposure draft can be obtained from
the office of the executive vice president of
AACSB. Up to 5 copies will be furnished at no
charge. A charge of $1.00 will be made for the
sixth copy and all additional copies will cost $.50
each.
AACSB Address:
Address all inquiries to Office of the Executive
Vice President of AACSB, 11500 Olive Street
Road, Suite 142, St. Louis, MO 63141. If you
have any questions you may call Dr. Bulloch at
(313) 662 -1986.
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People in the News
Two Ph ilip Mo rris Ex ecu tives
Two N A A memb ers recently were
nam ed to new fin ancial positions at
Philip Mo r n s, In c. Walte r F. Sp erber,
New York Ch ap ter, has been n am ed to
the new po st of vice presid en t, fin an cial
research an d co ntrol, an d R. Nelson
Beane, Ri ch mo nd Ch ap te r, was n am ed

vice p resident, finance and adm inistratio n , o f Philip Morris U.S.A.

to r. . . . M IC HA E L H. N IXO N a nd J E F F

D. HEARD have been selected partners
of S eib ert, Ed ward s, Heat h a nd C o.. . .

has joined the Barry
Gillingwater Co. as controller.
JAC K

Ik

In

KE R N

A . R I L E S , Calumet, has been
named controller, assistant secretary
and treasurer of McGill Manufacturing
Co.... Also of McGill, DENNIS D. Co
has been named assistant controller and
L A R R Y E . O H O , director of information
WAL T ER

_,.
SPERBER
New York

C.

BEANE
Richmond

s ys tems .

Promotions and New Positions

Through OFF Campus
Independent Study without
class attendance.
Law Grads qualify
for CA. Bar Exam

Phone Toll Free
1- 800 - 535 -7850

JA ME S R . D U T O I T ,

Adrian, Mich., has
been promoted to corporate controller
at Hoover Universal, Inc, He is a member of the Ann Arbor Chapter.
R O BE R T

T. ` T i m "

HA R R I S a n d

S T AN

R. S T R AS S BUR G ,

or write

SOUTHLAND UNIVERSITY
203 Carondelet St., #1003
New Orleans, LA. 70130

Austin Area, were promoted to senior vice presidents of North
Au stin Sta te Ba nk... . FRE D G. BAIRD
has jo in ed First Federal Savings as audi-

. . . D A V I D J . K L E N , Ar m strong Diam ond Center, has been
nam ed com ptroller. . . . RICHARD L.
VLASAK has been named works controller of Wisconsin Steel.

M. DONATO, Charlotte, N.C.,
has joined Britain, Hitchner, Gilbert
and Whitt, PA, as vice president. He is
a member of Charlotte Blue.
JOSEPH

Costa Mesa, Calif.,
has been named vice president of Brown
Accountancy Corp. He is a member of
the Orange Coast California Chapter.

C HR IS WYNKOOP,

CHAR LES R . S C HEPER , C o vingt o n,

Ky.,
has joined Union Central Life as assistant comptroller. He is a member of
Northern Kentucky.

We'll put you in touch with
the companies that will do your
career the most good.

L E O NAR D J. DI A NA, D e l a w a r e C o u n t y

Pennsylvania, has been nam ed associate
director of com m unications at Berwind
Corp.

AFA is a gro up o f widely reco gnized prof essionals specializing in acco unting and financial perso nnel placement. We know from experience how to
custom -fit a professional to a position.
Tho usands of co mpanies, lo cally and nationally, rely o n A FA to help them
recruit the people they need. Naturally, they pay all fees, and co nf identiality
is assured.
With A FA yo u choo se f rom a wealth of career opportunities not available
from any other source, since many o f our clients are well kno wn companies
who cho ose not to openly advertise their jo b openings.
Whatever your background, career objectives, or geographic preference,
AFA's valuable services are designed to help you find what you're seeking.
Prove it to yourself . Co ntact the AFA of fice nearest to you.

I

HER BE RT

I

o
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Lakes, N.J., was n am ed vice p resid en t
and controller o f th e en gin eered eq u ip ment sector wo rld wid e of Ingersoll Rand Co., and THOMAS V . C U R T I N ,

North Haledon, N.J., has been named
partner in Arthur Andersen & Co.'s
Newark office, Both are members of
Fast Bergen - Rockland.
ROGER K. THOMAS, Hamilton, Ohio,
has joined Hepar Industries Inc. as treasurer. . . . BEN BOGGESS, has been
named supervisor of cost accounting at
the Securities Transactions and Systems
Division of Mosier Safe. Both are members of Miami Valley Chapter.
CLIF FO RD

W.

C AR LS O N,

James t own,

Va., has been named assistant treasurer
at Weber- Knapp. He is a member of the
Jamestown- Warren Chapter.
DA V I D

J. SIMPSON, Kalamazoo, has
been promoted to vice president - finance
at Clausing Co rp .

At-A. GlancePersonal Planners
Balance your personal and professional life
without overtaxing yourself.
Figure out your day, week or month At•A•Glance.

HO W AR D A. HEAVIN, Lansing -Jackson, has been nam ed co n tro lle r o f t h e
Palisades Plan t, Con su m ers Po wer Co .

SHEAFFEREATON

•

Sheaffer Eaton Divisional Textron Inc.
R IC HAR D W,

EN G EL H O R N ,

Los Ange-

les, has been ap po in ted execu tive vice
president o f Pacific Co ld Sto rage Co.
and its affiliated co mp an ies. . . . CARL
L. YOUNG has b een prom oted to vice
presid ent an d co n t ro ller o f CC H Co m putax.
ST A NLE Y H. W HE A T E R ,

Mohawk Valley past president, has been elected treasurer of the Indium Corp. of America
and

F R A N C I S A . L E O N E , JR . , h a s b e e n

nam ed assistant co n troller of Revere
Copper and Brass, In c.
L E O N I D A S V . C H A L A S , Peabo dy , Mass.,
has been prom oted to co rp o rate vice
president o f fin an ce and ad min istratio n
at Stocker & Yale, In c. He is a m em b er
of the Massachusetts North Shore.

Phoenix past president, has been appointed assistant director of the Arizona Department of
Transportation, and S. R. GOLDSTON,
formerly of the Philadelphia Chapter,
has been named president of the Imperial Financial Printing Corp. GAIL. L.
NASH, also of the ADOT, was named
deputy assistant director of the administrative services division.
FR ANK

M o n e y i s n 't t h e o n ly r e a s o n t o
start your own business
A lot of people start their own business for the pure
satisfaction of it. Being your own boss. Making your
own decisions. Establishing your own lifestyle.
If you too want the satisfaction of your own business,
consider General Business Services.
a..
GBS is one of the nation's leading small business
counseling firms, with franchises in every state. We've
started nearly 1000 career - minded men and women on
.the road to their own business counseling practices.
And we can help you get started, too.
As an independent GBS counselor, you'll work with other businessmen and women —
right in your own community — providing the professional recordkeeping and management services almost every small business needs.
An investment of 515,000 covers complete training, supplies, and the full technical
support of our large national office staff. Even if you've never had formal training in
business or accounting before, the time - proven GBS system can make you your own
boss in just a matter of weeks.
Use the coupon below to find o ut more about the rewarding career o pportunity GBS
offers you.
1979. General Bus ness Service. Inc

r

Please
li — send11me
117 y our f r ee broc hur e, "An Investment i n Your self and Your Futur e. " about a GBS

'

career.

BO W MAN,

Name
Address
' City
' Phone

i

i
I'
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«*

« • ; • .

'

State
«*

Robert Turner, Vice President
General Business Services, Inc.
Department MA -U- 11
51 Monroe20850
Street, Rockville.
Maryland

'
'

'
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Greater Ozarks

C ha p t e r .

pa s t pr e s i de nt .
BRUNO D. J AC OBS,

uf a c t u r i ng, p r o d u c t , c a pi ta l a n d e ngi -

EDW ARD

J. I. C a s e . . . . SUSAN M . LIST
ha s b e e n p r o m o t e d t o c r e d i t a na l y s t a t

de nt- c o ntr o ll e r f or B a y St a te Ab r a s i ve s ,

W a l k e r M a n u f a c t u r i ng

a di vi s i on

ne e ri ng a t

Co.

S. B ILZE R IA N ,

W e s t b o r o u gh,

Ma s s . , ha s be e n a p p o i nt e d vic e pr e s i-

of D r e s s e r Ind u s t r i e s , Inc . He
of t he Worcester Area

is a p a s t pr e s id e nt
SEYMOUR

FRIEDMAN,

L.

S i ms b u r y ,

C ha p t e r .

C o nn. , ha s b e e n p r o mo t e d t o v i c e p r e s i d e nt

of

fi na nc e a nd a s s is t a nt t r e a s ur e r

C ho ic e -Ve nd, Inc , H e i s a me m b e r

Hartford

t he

of
of

C ha p t e r .

Sioux Falls. ha s be e n
e l e c te d tr e a s u r e r - c ontr ol l e r a nd me mbe r
t he B o a r d

Inc .

of

RO B E R T D . M ILLE R , Pe o r i a , wa s e l e c t e d p r e s i d e nt

ST UART OINES,

of

Or ga n iz at i on S e rv ic e

Di r e c t o r s

R o b e r t E r k o ne n,

of Se nc or e ,
Sioux Falls

of t h e

In s u r a n c e A c c o u nt -

i ng a n d Sta tis tic a l As s oc i a ti o n a t t he
A s s o c i a t i o n' s a nnu a l c o nv e nt i o n i n B o s to n. M r . M i l l e r i s d i r e c t o r

of

of o p e r a t i o ns
t he C o u nt r y M u t u a l In s u r a n c e Co.in

pa s t ...
p r e s i d e nt , ha s j o ine d t he Univ e r s i t y

B l o o m i ng t o n,

of S o u t h

E m e r it us L if e As s o c i at e s

D a k o t a F a mi l y P r a c t i c e C e n-

M c Le o d S o c i e t y ,

Ill.

ERNEST

t e r a s a d mi ni s t r a t o r .
JOHN

J.

OLDENBURG,

St. Louis,
of J a c k e s Co. a nd wi l l s e rv e
ha s

be e n a p po i nt e d v i c e p re s i de nt
E v a n s M a nu f a c t u r i ng
a s he a d

of t he

FRANK J .

f i na nc i a l d e p a r t me nt .

BOYL E,

J R. , Sp ri ngfi e l d, M o. ,

ha s b e e n p r o mo t e d t o c o m me r c i a l l o a n
offic e r

of

t he

Spr ingfi e l d.

He

Co mme rc e
is a

B a nk

me m b e r

of

of
t he

New Haven.
Buffalo,
C ORNELIA W. KEYES, Kalamazoo.
GE R A LD S. LEVINSON, New York.
ED W AR D R. MAR SH, Chicago.
T . LESLIE MARSHALL. , Mt. Rainier,
ALE XAN D E R M C WHIR T E R , Providence.
J . S. O W E N , JR.,Jackson.
BERNA RD J . SHER IDAN, Syracuse.
J. W. SOLT YS, Muskegon.
SIMON SYBESMA, Grand Rapids.
J OHN C. WALSH, New Orleans.
REMINGT ON H. WARN ER, Chicago,
Springfield p a s t p r e s i d e nt ; p a s t na t i o na l
vi c e p re s i de nt , 1963 -64;S t u a r t C a m e r o n
C HES T ER A . JOZWIAK,

NORMAN R. BURGER, Dayton.
Roy E. COMBS, San Jose.
W. F. DIXON, Memphis.
FRANC IS L. DOREY, Syracuse,
DIET E R DSC HENFF ZIG, Frankfurt; Buenos Aires pa s t pre s ide nt. .
JAMES F. DULIN , North Penn.
F. J OSEPH EGAN, Lehigh Valley.
W A IT E R E- HAF KE, Toledo.
JAC OB B. HARDER, JR., Butler Area

A . WEB ER LIN G, Northwest
Suburban Chicago.
HA RO LD B. WES T HEIME R, New York.
EUG ENE A . W OLC OT T , Dallas.
Memoriam

F. HAYES, Racine - Kenosha, ha s
ofm a n -

be e n na me d a s s i s t a nt c o nt r o l l e r

In

JOHN

G. A . BE Y E R ,

50,Baltimore, 1959.
39, Member -atLarge, USA, 1969.
A LB E R T C . DO MIZIO , J R. , 38, Bridgeport, 1970.
RALPH B. GOOD, 76, Reading, 1924,
ALAN H . C OPELAND,

Eme r i t u s Li f e A s s o c i a t e .

RIC HA RD
$94,572

RAY
'
'
'
'
'
'

'
'

call

more

information. '

Associates in the Comprehensive Program as of
December 31, 1978. Comprehensive is the
nation's largest franchisor of monthly bookkeeping, accounting and tax services for all types
of small and medium -sized businesses. We
provide qualified accountants an opportunity to
then
start
expand) their own practices.
furnish h ongoing support services in the areas
areas of
marketing, practice management and data
processing.

Relocation opportunities are available.
THESE PRE -TAX PROFITS ARE PREPARED
WITHOUT AN AUDIT AND SHOULD NOT BE
CONSIDERED AS THE ACTUAL OR POTENTIAL PRE -TAX PROFITS OR EARNINGS THAT

If you've always wanted to work for yourself,

similar to the franchises represented above.)

'

'

Anderson for

76%

This graph snows the pre -tax profit of all

REPRESENT THAT ANY FRANCHISEE CAN
EXPECT TO ATTAIN THESE PRE -TAX
PROFITS. (The franchises offered are substantially

WILLIA M T . STOCKTON,

66, Spartanburg Area, 1946. E L A .
WALT ER B. UMBE RFIE LD, 84, Hartford, 1939. E L A .
GUST AV ZEPER NIC K, 85, Reading,
1939. E L A .

I corpora tion
f
2111 Comprehensive Drive, Aurora, Illinois 60507
a

'

ntire

-

,:
'

NSB

'

CDM P b = E

Illinois residents call
collect: (312)898 -6868

NOVEMBER

ACCOUNTING/

MANAGEMENT

This figure is the average accrual basis pre -tax profit of all Associates in practice for 11 years.
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C a me ro n

E LA .

'

'

SEE.
WILL BETHE
REALIZED
FRANCHISOR
BY ANY OTHER
DOES
FRANCHINOT

V l am

Stuart

1979

'
'
'
'

$25,657
$ie.2o4

PERCENTAGE OF ASSOCIATES THAT HAVE EXCEEDED THESE AVERAGES
44%
37%
36%
40"/6
58%
59%
56%
46%
36%

1936.

ERNEST E. McCoy, 60, New Hampshire, 1954. E L A .
WILLIA M MC LAC HLA N, 68, Connecticut Gateway pa s t pr e s i de nt , 1952. E L A .
LLOY D C . MT LHE IM, 80, Lehigh Valley,
1937. E L A .
JAMES A . ROBERTS, 66, Los Angeles,
1943. E L A .
ROY B. SANDOZ, 61, New Orleans,
1961.
P. N. SHEPHERD, 59,Chattanooga, 1966.
J AMES A . SHUMARD, 36, St. Joseph
Area, 1978.
JAMES A . SLANE, 71, Hartford, 1944.

$38,277

Ut - 11L

93, New Haven,

Mc Le o d S oc ie t y. ELA.

531,659

Call toll free
(800) 323 -9000

JACK,

E. LONGENEC KER, 65, Lancaster,

1965 -66.

Actual AveragePre -Tax Profit of
ComprehensiveFranchised 646 $53,793
Accountants

I

D.

pa s t pr e s i de nt , na t i o na l vi c e p r e s i d e nt ,

$69,726

D.

46, Wichita,

1928. E L A .

$79,292

47%

HARDEST Y,

1965.

»tea

Accountants!$114,696*
InPre-TaxProfits:ASound
ReasonForJoiningUs

PHILLIP D .

$1 ",5%-

SPEInY+UNIVAC
B

M Y

NI

,G A OI VI 9

kO f t M

SP EA R , P

OC M POWt

JEW

Owens
Univaccomes

Quik Ship Plan —just 30 days. Most compan ies ask you to wait six months to two years
Give Harry Owens a call. There's a lot more
to computers than hardware.
r

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - Okay. Harry. You're on!
Have your Business Systems Specialist
call me for an appointment.
Send me fttrther information.
My type of business is
Name
Company
Address

MA -5

--

-

-

-

1
------

L

State

Zip
Tel.(
)
Mail to Sperry Univac BC/7, (k-pt.
Box 5W, Blue Bell, Pa. 19424

lot),

City

---

system running nonstop.
When you invest in a BC /7, you get
not only the finest company money can
buy, you get the finest computer money can
buy. The BC /7 is so easy to operate,
anyone in your company can learn how to
use it in less than a day. As you grow, you
can teach it new tricks without calling in a
fancy programmer. Just tell it what you
want in plain English.
The BC /7 comes in four sizes. including our new, large BC /7 -900 System. It
works in RPG lI and ESCORT. And it
switches gears to function independently, or
as part of a larger system. So no matter what
lies ahead, you can never outgrow your
investment.
Best of all, you can get a BC /7 in less
than two months. If you qualify for our

-----

Harry Owens is your man. Ile represents the army of resources and experts, and
all the things you can't see, that are yours
with the Sperry Univac BC /7 Computer.
Like the advantages of dealing with one of
the oldest, most respected names in the
computer industry.
Like the convenience of knowing you
have just one company for everything. We
supply it, install it, train you how to use it.
We furnish the standard software packages for
your business. Then we take care of you.
With one of the largest support organizations
in the world. And we give you your own
personal Harry Owens, Business Systems
Specialist. He'll be around the comer, not
halfway across the continent, and he knows
as much about solving your business
problems as he does about keeping your

ith every BC/7,

BOX The small computer for all businesses.
The competition is no competition.

LETTERS

BUSINESS MANAGER

Continued from page 11
The end result was something credit
managers have always known: form collection letters provide the best return on
investment if they are properly worded
so as to give the recipient the idea that
it's going to be more beneficial to pay
than to face the alternatives of not doing so.
Charles H. Dreyfuss
Manager, Credit and Receivables
K Promotions, Inc.
Milwaukee, Wis.

MANAGEMENT
ACCOUNTING
PRACTICES
Continued from page 6

The AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH NURSES seeks a Business
Manager to direct the administrative operations of the Headquarters office. The Business
Manager is also responsible for coordinating preparation of the budget for all AAOHN programs
and activities and mo nitors the financial performance of AAOHN on a regular basis.
A Bachelors Degree in accounting, business administration or finance is required: one to three
years experience in the functional areas of budget development: auditing and personnel relations
necessary. Experience supervising others preferred. W illing to relocate outside New York area in
near future. Salary negotiable.

Send resume to:

Search C ommittee
American As sociation o f O ccup atio nal Health Nurses
575 Le xingto n A venue
New York, Ne w Yo rk 10 02 2
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919 Thir d Ave., New York

between those and other qualities,
such as "timeliness, understandabili
ty, verifiability, materiality, neutrality,
comparability, and costs and benefits."
The FASB has instituted a procedure for the issuance by its staff of
technical bulletins that are intended
to provide the guidance on the implementation of accounting standards
formally provided in letter communications and summarized in the
FASB's newsletter. In its draft of the
first bulletin, which is called "Purpose
of FASB Technical Bulletins and Procedures for Issuance," the staff comments that the "bulletins will not be
used to establish new financial accounting standards or to amend existing standards."
In a draft of an interpretation, the
Standards Board has proposed that
the separate financial statements of a
parent company or subsidiary that are
included in a consolidated income tax
return should disclose the method
used to allocate the consolidated income tax provision among the component companies. APB No. 11, "Accounting for Income Taxes," requires
disclosure about income taxes but deferred consideration of the special
problems of income tax allocation
among components of a business enterprise, pending further study.
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IF PAYDAY IS
COSTING YOU TIME AND MONEY,
TODAYS ANSWER IS
OUR COMPUTERIZED PAYROLL.
A DET
WORKMAN'S TIME RBc ^,ROER

Na 411,586

Patented Sept. 24. 1889.
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An historic step in making company
payrolls more organized and accurate
was the invention in 1869 of the Dey
Time Clock.
With workers "punching in" and
"punching out," they and their employers knew exactly where they stood.
Today you can take another great
step forward with our computerized
system called Payroll 4. For the first
time you'll really get your money's

INVENTOR

/

n

worth from all the effort it takes to
produce a payroll.
You'll benefit from much greater
efficiency and dependability. You'll free
your staff from bothersome paperwork,
unworkable peakloads, and time consuming, error -prone calculations.
But Payroll 4 can do more. It can help
relieve your burden of government
and other third party reporting, including EEO, OSHA and employee unions.

It can also provide the information
you need to monitor and control labor
costs, where even a fractional improvement can have a significant
effect on profits.
Good reasons to call the company
that gave its name to the entire
industry.
For more information, write to us,
Attn: Communications Dept., or look
for us in the Yellow Pages.

THE SERVICE BUREAU COMPANY
®1979 Control Data Corporatwn
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CONTROL DATA CORPORATION
500 W est Putnam Avenue, Greenwich, Connecticut 06830
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Controller

DataBase

Bookkeeper
Credit Manager
Financial Analyst

TaxManager
=�
.r

Cost Accountant

systems
EDPAuditor

--�-"�

Consultant
MIS Director

=- SystemsM

anager

Auditor

=.

uomputeroperator
Systems Anatvsf

Accountant

EDPManager

Financial Y.P.

Name the one specialist qualified
to fill all of these positions
It's the Robert Half organization. And filling a
position means carefully matching the individual to
your precise requirements.
We start with the largest selection of the best
accounting, financial and edp professionals. The best
people on the job market come to us first because
word has gotten around that the best companies.
large and small, have come to us for over 30 years.
Next the trained accounting, financial and edp

C

professionals who staff our over 65 offices use the
latest personnel evaluation techniques to zero in on
the candidates best suited to your requirements. And
because our people are professionals, they understand your requirements.
The result: you get the right person without time consuming�searching�and�interviewing—�reducing
costly employee turnover. Contact the Robert Half
specialist. You'll find us in the White Pages.

I R O B E -R T I M L F

accounting, financial and edp personnel specialists

ALBUQUERQUE�•�ALLENTOW N�•�AT LANTA�•�BA LTIMORE�• �BIRMINGHAM�•�BLOOMINGTON�(MN)�•�BOST ON�•�BUFFA LO�•�CHIC AGO�•�CINCINNATI�CITY�OF�COMMERCE�(CA)�•�CLAYTON�•�CLEVELAND�•�CLIFTON.�N.J.�•�COLUMBUS�•�DALLAS�•�DAVENPORT�.�DAYTON�•�DENVER�.
DES�MOINES�•�DETROIT�•�FORT�W ORTH�•�FRESNO�•�GRAND�RAPIDS�•�GREENSBORO�•�HARTFORD�•�HAYWARD�•�HOUSTON�•�INDIANAPOLIS
KANSAS�CITY�.�LANCASTER�•�LEXINGTON�•�LONG�ISLAND�•�LOS�ANGELES�•�LOUISV ILLE�•�MEMPHIS�•�MIAMI�• �MILW AUKEE�•�MINNEAPOLIS
NEW �ORLEANS�•�NEW �YORK�•�OMAHA�•�ORANGE�(CA)�•�PALO�ALTO�•�PHILADELPHIA�•�PHOENIX�•�PITTSBURGH�•�PORTLAND�PROVIDENCE�.�SACRAMENTO�•�ST.�LOUIS�•�ST.�PAUL�•�SALT�LAKE�CITY�•�SAN�ANTONIO�•�SAN�FRANCISCO�•�SAN�JOSE�•�SEATTLE
STAMFORD,�CT.�•�TAMPA�•�W ASHINGTON,�D.C.�•�W ILMINGTON
CANADA:�CALGARY�•�TORONTO �•�VANCOUVER�•�GREAT�BRIT AIN:�BIRMINGHAM�.�LONDON
Copyright 1979 Robert Haif

